
Hamilton County Board of County Commissioners

Commissioner Fields

AGENDA May 07, 2014

ROLL CALL

INVOCATION -

PLEDGE TO THE FLAG - Commissioner Fields

Presentation Gold Star Mothers - Mayor Coppinger - May 7, 2014 - Commission Meeting

Presentation Honoring Chandler Custer for Outstanding Achievements - Commissioner Beck - Commission
Meeting - May 7, 2014

Minutes Recessed Meeting Minutes - April 9, 2014

Minutes Agenda Session Minutes - April 9, 2014

Minutes Recessed Meeting Minutes - April 16, 2014

Minutes Commission Meeting Minutes - April 16, 2014

Res. No. 514-1 A Resolution to approve and accept applications for notary public positions and oaths of Deputy
Sheriffs.

Report Trustee Excess Fee Report - March 2014

Report Trustee Monthly Report - March 2014

Report Juvenile Court Reports

Report Bakewell Utility District Appointments

Res. No. 514-2 A Resolution to appoint one (1) member and to reappoint (1) member to the Chattanooga
Hamilton County Regional Health Council for four (4) year terms beginning May 7, 2014 and
ending May 7, 2018.

Res. No. 514-3 A Resolution to appoint one (1) member to the Hamilton County Health & Safety Board for a
term beginning May 1, 2014, and ending May 1, 2016.

Res. No. 514-4 A Resolution accepting an amended State of Tennessee, Governor’s Highway Safety Office
grant for the “Remove Intoxicated and Impaired Drivers” Project with a term ending September
30, 2014 and amending the Sheriff’s office operating budget by adding an additional $100,000 to
revenues and expenditures.

Res. No. 514-5 A Resolution approving the purchase of eight (8) Vision Mobile Law Vehicle Workstation
software licenses amounting to $15,687.28 from TriTech Software Systems for the Sheriff’s
Department and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this
Resolution.

Res. No. 514-6 A Resolution accepting the bid of School Nurse Supply, Inc. for four (4) PediaVision screeners
amounting to $28,220.00 for the Health Department and authorizing the County Mayor to sign
any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 514-7 A Resolution authorizing the County Mayor on behalf of Hamilton County, Tennessee, the
Health Services Division, operating as the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department to
sign a continuation contract with the Tennessee Department of Health in the amount of
$189,000 ($63,000 per year) to provide services of the Tennessee Breast and Cervical Cancer
Early Detection program to eligible women in Hamilton County for a time period of July 1, 2014
through June 30, 2017.

Res. No. 514-8 A Resolution authorizing the County Mayor on behalf of Hamilton County, Tennessee, the
Health Services Division, operating as the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department to
sign a contract amendment with the Tennessee Department of Health in the amount of $416,700
to provide Sexually Transmitted Disease and HIV Education, Prevention and Control Services  in
Hamilton County, for a time period of January 1, 2014 through December 31, 2014 and reduce
the expense and revenue budgets by $45,900.



Res. No. 514-9 A Resolution accepting an additional $21,250 in TennCare/Medicaid Electronic Health record
provider incentive program money increasing both revenues and expenses by said amount in
the Health Department’s Records Management budget - 103570.

Res. No. 514-10 A Resolution to authorize the County Mayor to execute a contract between the State of
Tennessee, Department of Health and Hamilton County, Tennessee, Health Services Division,
operating as the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department for the provision of Health
Promotion Services using funds from the State of Tennessee, Department of Health in the
amount not to exceed $121,700 for the period beginning July 1, 2014 ending June 30, 2015.

Res. No. 514-11 A Resolution ratifying the purchase of gasoline and diesel fuel for the period of March 1, 2014,
through March 31, 2014, and to authorize the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to
implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 514-12 A Resolution to waive the Purchasing Rules and authorize the County Mayor to transfer a
commercial grade washing machine to the Humane Educational Society (HES) of Chattanooga.

Res. No. 514-13 A Resolution accepting the bids of Guardian EMS Products, Bound Tree Medical, LLC and
Physio-Control, Inc. for one (1) year contract pricing, beginning May 7, 2014, through May 6,
2015, for medical supplies for Emergency Medical Services and authorizing the County Mayor to
sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 514-14 A Resolution to amend the “Master List of Roads and Speed Limits” so as to change the
roadway name for the following district road: Chen Lane to Jed Lane. (3)

Res. No. 514-15 A Resolution authorizing the County Mayor to enter into and execute an "Offer to Purchase"
relative to a portion of Lot 1 of the Centre South Riverport/Industrial Park and authorizing the
County Mayor to execute a deed and other necessary closing documents conveying said
property to the purchaser listed hereinbelow upon payment of the sale price by the purchaser.

ANNOUNCEMENTS

DELEGATIONS ON MATTERS OTHER THAN ZONING

Any invocation that may be offered before the official start of the Commission
meeting shall be the voluntary offering of a private citizen, to and for the
benefit of the Commission.  The views or beliefs expressed by the invocation
speaker have not been previously reviewed or approved by the Commission
and do not necessarily represent the religious beliefs or views of the
Commission in part or as a whole.  No member of the community is required to
attend or participate in the invocation and such decision will have no impact on
their right to actively participate in the business of the Commission.



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 

APRIL 9, 2014 
 

 

 1 

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Recessed Meeting 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  April 9, 2014 

 

BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 9th day of April, 2014, a Recessed Meeting of 

the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and held at the Courthouse, 

in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, when the following 

proceedings were held, to wit: -- 

 

Present and presiding was the Honorable Fred Skillern, Chairman. County Clerk 

Bill Knowles called the roll of the County Commission and the following, constituting a 

quorum, answered to their names:  Commissioner Bankston, Commissioner Beck, 

Commissioner Boyd, Commissioner Fields, Commissioner Graham, Commissioner 

Haynes, Commissioner Henry, Commissioner Mackey, and Chairman Skillern. Total 

present - 9.  Total absent – 0. 

 

Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his  

administrative staff, County Attorney Rheubin Taylor, and County Auditor Bill McGriff. 

 

 Commissioner Beck welcomed Pastor Travis Sharpe, GraceBridge Church, who 

gave the invocation.  Commissioner Beck led in the pledge to the flag.  

 



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 

APRIL 9, 2014 
 

 

 2 

RESOLUTION NO. 414-31  A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE ENTERING INTO AN 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE, AND 

THE CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HOSPITAL AUTHORITY 

(“ERLANGER”) FOR THE PURPOSE OF ALLOWING ERLANGER TO 

PARTICIP ATE IN THE STATE OF TENNESSEE 'S  PUBLIC HOSPITAL 

SUPPLEMENTAL PAYMENT POOL (“PHSPP”) FOR THE PROVIDING OF HEALTH 

SERVICES TO TENNCARE ENROLLEES AND UNINSURED PATIENTS. 

 

 ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

adopt Resolution No. 414-31.  The motion was not voted on at this time. 

 

 Upon questioning by Commissioner Graham, Attorney Taylor indicated that all 

legal matters related to this item had been addressed. 

 

 Commissioner Graham stated his support of the Resolution, indicating the great 

benefit it would be to the community. He expressed his appreciation to Mayor 

Coppinger for bringing it before the Commission for consideration. 

 

 The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the 

following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows:  

Commissioner Bankston, “Aye”; Commissioner Beck, “Aye”; Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”; 

Commissioner Fields, “Aye”; Commissioner Graham, “Aye”; Commissioner Haynes, 



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 

APRIL 9, 2014 
 

 

 3 

“Aye”; Commissioner Henry, “Aye”; Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”; and Chairman 

Skillern, “Aye”. Total present – 9.  Total absent – 0.  Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” 

votes – 0.   

 

  There being no further business, Chairman Skillern declared the meeting 

adjourned.   

 

Respectfully submitted: 

 
      

                                                                           _______________________________    
   William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 

 
Approved: 
 
 
____                   
Date     Clerk’s Initials 
 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

APRIL 9, 2014 
 
 

 1 

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Agenda Preparation Session 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  April 9, 2014 

 

BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 9th day of April, 2014, an Agenda Preparation 

Session of the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and held at the 

Courthouse, in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, when the 

following proceedings were held, to wit:-- 

 

Present and presiding was the Honorable Fred Skillern, Chairman.  County Clerk 

Bill Knowles called the roll of the County Commission and the following, constituting a 

quorum, answered to their names:  Commissioner Bankston, Commissioner Beck, 

Commissioner Boyd, Commissioner Fields, Commissioner Graham, Commissioner 

Haynes, Commissioner Henry, Commissioner Mackey, and Chairman Skillern.  Total 

present - 9.  Total absent – 0. 

 

Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his  

administrative staff, County Attorney Rheubin Taylor, and County Auditor Bill McGriff. 

 

A
g
e
n
d
a
1

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

APRIL 9, 2014 
 
 

 2 

PRESENTATION – SIGNAL MOUNTAIN HIGH SCHOOL – LEO CLUB 

 

 Commissioner Fields presented Certificates of Appreciation to the Signal 

Mountain High School’s LEO (Leadership, Experience, and Opportunity) Club, for 

providing youth an opportunity to develop and contribute to the local community. It was 

noted that the LEO Club had been a sponsored affiliation of the Lions Club for over 50 

years. There were currently 84 members who had contributed more than 730 service 

hours this year. 

 

 Commissioner Fields welcomed LEO Club liason Alicea Michelle and Signal 

Mountain Middle/High School Assistant Principal Jamison Griffin who were in 

attendance. 

 

 LEO Club President Robert Stilts introduced members of the club who were also 

in the audience for today’s presentation. 

 

 Mayor Coppinger expressed his appreciation to those involved with the club for 

their commitment to the community. 

 

 Assistant Principal Griffin thanked the Commission on behalf of the group for 

today’s recognition. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

APRIL 9, 2014 
 
 

 3 

COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS 

 

Chairman Skillern indicated the upcoming agenda items would be considered as 

follows: 

• Resolution No. 414-19 was the usual County Clerk item regarding notaries, etc.  
This required no committee assignment. 

• A Three Star Compliance Report would be submitted as a matter of record. 
• An Order of Designation to the Planning Commission would be submitted as a 

matter of record. 
• Resolutions No. 414-20 through 414-30 were assigned to the Finance 

Committee, chaired by Commissioner Graham.  
 

 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 

 

Chairman Skillern asked for announcements from members of the Commission.  

 

Commissioner Henry, Mayor Coppinger, and Chairman Skillern spoke regarding 

today’s adoption of Resolution No. 414-31, which entered into an Interlocal Agreement 

with the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Hospital Authority for the purpose of allowing 

Erlanger Hospital to participate in the State of Tennessee’s Public Hospital 

Supplemental Payment Pool (“PHSPP”).  Each expressed their support of this program 

and the benefits it would provide to the County. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

APRIL 9, 2014 
 
 

 4 

DELEGATIONS 

 

Chairman Skillern asked for delegations on matters other than zoning. There 

were none. 

 

Being no further business, Chairman Skillern declared the meeting adjourned. 

 

Respectfully submitted: 

      

      _________________________________   
      William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 
Approved: 
           

_____   
Date      Clerk’s Initials 

 
 



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 

APRIL 16, 2014 
 

 

 1 

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Recessed Meeting 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  April 16, 2014 

 

BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 16th day of April, 2014, a Recessed Meeting 

of the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and held at the 

Courthouse, in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, when the 

following proceedings were held, to wit: -- 

 

Present and presiding was the Honorable Fred Skillern, Chairman. County Clerk 

Bill Knowles called the roll of the County Commission and the following, constituting a 

quorum, answered to their names:  Commissioner Bankston, Commissioner Beck, 

Commissioner Boyd, Commissioner Fields, Commissioner Graham, Commissioner 

Haynes, Commissioner Henry, Commissioner Mackey, and Chairman Skillern. Total 

present - 9.  Total absent – 0. 

 

Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his  

administrative staff, County Attorney Rheubin Taylor, and County Auditor Bill McGriff. 

 

 Commissioner Beck welcomed Pastor Tim Tinsley, First Presbyterian Church, 

who gave the invocation.  Commissioner Beck led in the pledge to the flag.  

 



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 

APRIL 16, 2014 
 

 

 2 

RESOLUTION NO. 414-32  A RESOLUTION TO REAPPOINT ONE MEMBER AND 

APPOINT TWO MEMBERS TO THE HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF 

EQUALIZATION FOR TWO (2) YEAR TERMS BEGINNING MAY 7, 2014 AND 

ENDING MAY 7, 2016. 

 

 Chairman Skillern reported that this Resolution had been submitted as a late item 

for the Commission’s consideration.  He noted that the Resolution had been submitted 

today and needed to be considered before May 1st. He stated that this item could be 

voted on today or at a Recessed Meeting on Wednesday, April 30, 2014, depending on 

the desire of the Commission.  

 

  Commissioner Graham stated that he personally knew two of the three 

individuals being considered for appointment.  He expressed his intent to support this 

Resolution. 

 

 Commissioner Boyd stated that he was still awaiting additional information as to 

who the East Ridge representative was on this board. He stated a desire to vote on this 

item after all information had been received. 

 

 Chairman Skillern stated his intent to recess today’s regularly scheduled meeting 

to April 30, 2014 for consideration of this and any other business to come before the 



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 

APRIL 16, 2014 
 

 

 3 

Commission.   Without objection Resolution No. 414-32 was deferred to the 

aforementioned recessed meeting.  

 

  There being no further business, Chairman Skillern declared the meeting 

adjourned.   

 

Respectfully submitted: 

 
      

                                                                           _______________________________    
   William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 

 
Approved: 
 
 
________  
Date     Clerk’s Initials 
 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

APRIL 16, 2014 
 

 1 

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Regular Meeting 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  April 16, 2014 

 

BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 16th day of April, 2014, a Regular Meeting of 

the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and held at the Courthouse, 

in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, when the following 

proceedings were held, to wit:-- 

 

Present and presiding was the Honorable Fred Skillern, Chairman.  County Clerk 

Bill Knowles called the roll of the County Commission and the following, constituting a 

quorum, answered to their names:  Commissioner Bankston, Commissioner Beck, 

Commissioner Boyd, Commissioner Fields, Commissioner Graham, Commissioner 

Haynes, Commissioner Henry, Commissioner Mackey, and Chairman Skillern.  Total 

present - 9.  Total absent – 0. 

 

Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his  

administrative staff, County Attorney Rheubin Taylor, and County Auditor Bill McGriff. 

 

Attached hereto is a copy of the Public Notice of this meeting, which was 

published in a local newspaper and made a matter of record of this meeting. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

APRIL 16, 2014 
 

 2 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Henry, seconded by Commissioner Fields, that 

the minutes of the Recessed Meeting of March 26, 2014, the Agenda Preparation 

Session of March 26, 2014, and the Regular Meeting of April 2, 2014, be approved, 

treat same as read, made a matter of record and filed.  The foregoing Motion was 

unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County 

Commission being present and voting as follows:  Commissioner Bankston, “Aye”; 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”; Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”; Commissioner Fields, “Aye”; 

Commissioner Graham, “Aye”; Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”; Commissioner Henry, 

“Aye”; Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”; and Chairman Skillern, “Aye”. Total present – 9.  

Total absent – 0.  Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0.   

 

RESOLUTION NO. 414-19  A RESOLUTION TO APPROVE AND ACCEPT 

APPLICATIONS FOR NOTARY PUBLIC POSITIONS. 

 

 Chairman Skillern asked for a motion. 

 

 ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Henry, to 

adopt Resolution No. 414-19.  The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows:  Commissioner Bankston, “Aye”; Commissioner Beck, “Aye”; 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

APRIL 16, 2014 
 

 3 

Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”; Commissioner Fields, “Aye”; Commissioner Graham, “Aye”; 

Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”; Commissioner Henry, “Aye”; Commissioner Mackey, 

“Aye”; and Chairman Skillern, “Aye”. Total present – 9.  Total absent – 0.  Total “Aye” 

votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0.   

 

ORDER OF DESIGNATION 

 

An order was submitted for the record designating Todd Leamon to sit as the 

County Mayor’s representative on the Planning Commission for the meeting of April 14, 

2014. 

 

THREESTAR  

 

Mayor Coppinger submitted for the record a letter reflecting Hamilton County’s 

compliance with the ThreeStar Program. 

 

 Chairman Skillern asked that Resolutions No. 414-20 through 414-23 be 

considered together at this time. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 414-20  A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF MOUNTAIN 

VIEW FORD LINCOLN FOR POLICE VEHICLE EQUIPMENT AND UP-FIT 

INSTALLATION AMOUNTING TO $116,865.00 FOR THE SHERIFF’S  DEPARTMENT 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

APRIL 16, 2014 
 

 4 

AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS 

NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 414-21  A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE PURCHASE OF FLU 

VACCINE FROM NOVARTIS,  SANOFI-PASTEUR, MCKESSON MED-SURG MN 

SUPPLY, AT STATEWIDE CONTRACT PRICING AND, IF NECESSARY, OTHER 

FIRMS AT THE LOWEST AND BEST AVAILABLE PRICING QUOTE FOR THE 

HEALTH DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY 

CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 414-22  A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 

TO SIGN A CONTRACT WITH THE TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND 

HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE, THE HEALTH SERVICES DIVISION, 

OPERATING AS THE CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH 

DEPARTMENT, FOR THE TIME PERIOD J ULY 1, 2014 – J UNE 30, 2015, IN AN 

AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $64,500, TO PROVIDE CASE MANAGEMENT 

SERVICES IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH RENAL 

INTERVENTION PROJ ECT PROTOCOL. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 414-23  A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 

TO SIGN A CONTINUATION CONTRACT WITH THE TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT 

OF HEALTH AND HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE, THE HEALTH SERVICES 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

APRIL 16, 2014 
 

 5 

DIVISION, OPERATING AS THE CHATTANOOGA HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH 

DEPARTMENT, FOR THE FISCAL YEARS 2014-2019 CONTRACT PERIOD, IN AN 

AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $1,892,000 ($378,400 PER YEAR) TO PROVIDE HELP 

US GROW SUCCESSFULLY (HUGS) SERVICES IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE 

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH’S HUGS PROGRAM GUIDELINES. 

 

 Commissioner Graham provided details regarding Resolution No. 414-20 through 

414-23 and stated that the Finance Committee reviewed and recommended approval.  

 

 ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Mackey, to 

adopt Resolution No. 414-20 through 414-23.  The foregoing Resolutions were 

unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County 

Commission being present and voting as follows:  Commissioner Bankston, “Aye”; 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”; Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”; Commissioner Fields, “Aye”; 

Commissioner Graham, “Aye”; Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”; Commissioner Henry, 

“Aye”; Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”; and Chairman Skillern, “Aye”. Total present – 9.  

Total absent – 0.  Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0.   

 

 Chairman Skillern asked that Resolutions No. 414-24 through 414-26 be 

considered together at this time. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

APRIL 16, 2014 
 

 6 

RESOLUTION NO. 414-24  A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE HIGHEST AND BEST 

BID FOR CERTAIN PARCELS OF PROPERTY ACQUIRED BY HAMILTON COUNTY 

THROUGH PREVIOUS DELINQUENT TAX SALES AND AUTHORIZING THE 

COUNTY MAYOR AND COUNTY TRUSTEE TO ENTER INTO AND EXECUTE 

DEEDS CONVEYING SAID P ARCELS TO INDIVIDUALS LISTED HEREIN BELOW. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 414-25  A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 

TO EXECUTE DEEDS CONVEYING HAMILTON COUNTY'S  INTEREST IN CERTAIN 

PROPERTY ACQUIRED THROUGH A PREVIOUS  DELINQUENT TAX S ALE AND 

J OINTLY OWNED BY HAMILTON COUNTY AND THE CITY OF CHATTANOOGA. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 414-26  A RESOLUTION TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR 

TO ENTER INTO AND EXECUTE AN AGREEMENT WITH RIVERSTREET 

ARCHITECTURE, LLC FOR ARCHITECTURAL DESIGN SERVICES FOR TWO NEW 

RESTROOM FACILITIES FOR CHESTER FROST PARK FOR AN AMOUNT NOT TO 

EXCEED $24,660.00. 

 

 Commissioner Graham provided details regarding Resolution No. 414-24 through 

414-26 and stated that the Finance Committee reviewed and recommended approval.  

 

 ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Mackey, to 

adopt Resolution No. 414-24 through 414-26.  The foregoing Resolutions were 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

APRIL 16, 2014 
 

 7 

unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County 

Commission being present and voting as follows:  Commissioner Bankston, “Aye”; 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”; Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”; Commissioner Fields, “Aye”; 

Commissioner Graham, “Aye”; Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”; Commissioner Henry, 

“Aye”; Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”; and Chairman Skillern, “Aye”. Total present – 9.  

Total absent – 0.  Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0.   

 

 Chairman Skillern asked that Resolutions No. 414-27 through 414-30 be 

considered together at this time. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 414-27  A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF EVS 

EMERGENCY VEHICLE SPECIALIST FOR ONE (1) YEAR CONTRACT UNIT 

PRICING, BEGINNING APRIL 17, 2014, THROUGH APRIL 16, 2015, FOR 

PROTECTIVE CLOTHING FOR EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES AND 

AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY 

TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 414-28  A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 

TO APPLY TO THE TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION AND 

ACCEPT A LITTER PREVENTION AND TRASH COLLECTION GRANT IN THE 

AMOUNT OF $108,900 WITH A CONTRACT PERIOD BEGINNING J ULY 1, 2014 

AND ENDING J UNE 30, 2015. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

APRIL 16, 2014 
 

 8 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 414-29  A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 

TO APPLY TO THE TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTION AND ACCEPT 

A GRANT IN THE AMOUNT OF $976,218 FOR  CONTINUATION OF THE 

HAMILTON COUNTY FELONY COMMUNITY CORRECTIONS PROGRAM WITH A 

CONTRACT PERIOD BEGINNING J ULY 1, 2014 AND ENDING J UNE 30, 2017. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 414-30  A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF BODY 

ARMOR OUTLET FOR ONE (1) YEAR CONTRACT PRICING, BEGINNING APRIL 17, 

2014, THROUGH APRIL 16, 2015, FOR BODY ARMOR AND EQUIPMENT FOR 

EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO 

SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

  Commissioner Graham provided details regarding Resolution No. 414-27 

through 414-30 and stated that the Finance Committee reviewed and recommended 

approval.  

 

 ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Henry, to 

adopt Resolution No. 414-27 through 414-30.  The foregoing Resolutions were 

unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County 

Commission being present and voting as follows:  Commissioner Bankston, “Aye”; 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”; Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”; Commissioner Fields, “Aye”; 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

APRIL 16, 2014 
 

 9 

Commissioner Graham, “Aye”; Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”; Commissioner Henry, 

“Aye”; Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”; and Chairman Skillern, “Aye”. Total present – 9.  

Total absent – 0.  Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0.   

 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 

 

Chairman Skillern asked for announcements from members of the Commission.  

 

 Members of the Commission and Mayor Coppinger wished everyone a safe and 

happy Easter holiday weekend. 

 

 Commissioner Haynes reported that today was the first day of early voting for the 

County Primary Election. He encouraged everyone to vote.  Several other members of 

the Commission expressed the same. 

 

 Commissioner Graham and Chairman Skillern wished a happy birthday to 

Legislative Administrator Patricia Moore. 

 

 Mayor Coppinger made comments relating to a billboard in several locations 

throughout the County offering free testing for gonorrhea. He pointed out that the 

billboard depicted an African-American male. He expressed that the disease was not 

common to one specific demographic. He stated that the campaign was a State 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

APRIL 16, 2014 
 

 10 

campaign rather than a County campaign, although the sign listed the Hamilton County 

Health Department’s phone number as a contact for testing. 

 

DELEGATIONS 

 

Chairman Skillern asked for delegations on matters other than zoning.  

 

County Trustee Bill Hullander addressed the Commission to report that his office 

recently submitted $7,300,000 in excess fees to the County. He stated this was the first 

time in history that the Trustee’s office had remitted over $7,000,000.  He noted that this 

increase was partially due to new services offered, such as collecting sanitation fees for 

certain municipalities. 

 

Mayor Coppinger expressed his appreciation to County Clerk Knowles for also 

submitting excess fees to the County.  He stated that fees from Constitutional offices 

have a significant positive impact on County’s finances.  

 

Upon request by Mayor Coppinger, Clerk Knowles elaborated on excess fees 

remitted by his office. He reported that over $12,000,000 in excess fees have been 

turned over to County General Government since he assumed office, and that 

remittances for the current fiscal year totaled over $1,700,000.  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

APRIL 16, 2014 
 

 11 

Chairman Skillern commended Clerk Knowles for actively seeking extra work 

from  trucking firms with offices or depots in Tennessee that qualify for Tennessee’s 

permanent semi-trailer plates and other title related applications. Knowles stated that 

some Clerk offices do not accommodate the quantity of trucking applications that his 

office is willing to accept and quickly process. 

 

Commissioner Beck, Commissioner Henry, and Chairman Skillern expressed 

appreciation to Trustee Hullander and Clerk Knowles for their diligent work for the 

citizens of Hamilton County. 

 

Rick Carpenter, a resident at 3119 Chicalilly Avenue, who has addressed the 

Commission many times, relating to his problem with the Hamilton County Water and 

Wastewater Treatment Authority (WWTA), approached the podium.  He stated that the 

County Attorney has not responded to his earlier public inquiry into the County’s 

compliance with the Coinage Act of 1965.   

 

Attorney Taylor noted that a lawsuit had been filed by the WWTA Board against 

Mr. Carpenter. He stated that he could not give legal advice relating to a matter 

currently in court. He recommended that Mr. Carpenter retain an attorney to represent 

him during this process. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

APRIL 16, 2014 
 

 12 

There being no further business, Chairman Skillern declared the meeting in 

recess until Wednesday, April 30, 2014 at 9:30 AM.  

 

Respectfully submitted: 

 
      

____________________________________    
     William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 
 

Approved: 
   

_______   
Date     Clerk’s Initials 

 
 



 

 

No. 514-1 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 7, 2014 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
  A RESOLUTION TO APPROVE AND ACCEPT APPLICATIONS FOR 

NOTARY PUBLIC POSITIONS AND OATHS OF DEPUTY SHERIFFS. 
   
 
WHEREAS, William F. (Bill) Knowles, Hamilton County Clerk, has certified according to the 

records of his office that the persons named on the attached listing labeled 
HAMILTON COUNTY NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS have duly 
applied for the positions so sought; and 

 
WHEREAS, said Bill Knowles has certified according to the records of his office that the 

persons named on the attached listing labeled OATHS OF DEPUTY 
SHERIFFS have taken the oath of office; and 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY BOARD OF 
COMMISSIONERS: 
 

1. That the persons named on the listing labeled HAMILTON COUNTY 
NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS are hereby approved as applicants to be 
submitted to the Secretary of State; and 

 
2. That the persons named on the listing labeled OATHS OF DEPUTY 

SHERIFFS are accepted and the oaths therefor are approved as taken; and  
 

 3. That each such person named on any listing hereinabove mentioned (which listing 
is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference) is hereby deemed to have 
been individually considered according to the particular matter relating thereto. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER PASSAGE. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 7, 2014 

  
Date 

 













































































 

 

No. 514-2 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 7, 2014 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION TO APPOINT ONE (1) MEMBER AND TO REAPPOINT (1) 
MEMBER TO THE CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY REGIONAL HEALTH 
COUNCIL FOR FOUR (4) YEAR TERMS BEGINNING MAY 7, 2014 AND ENDING 
MAY 7, 2018. 
  
WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners and the County Mayor appoint members to 

the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Regional Health Council; and 
 
WHEREAS, the terms of the appointees representing the Commissioners of Districts 

One and Five have expired. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the following persons are appointed and reappointed to the Chattanooga-Hamilton 
County Regional Health Council for four (4) year terms beginning May 7, 2014 and ending 
May 7, 2018. 
 
 APPOINTEE     APPOINTED BY 
 Jim Folkner     Commissioner Skillern, District One 
 Charline Kilpatrick    Commissioner Beck, District Five 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 7, 2014 

  
Date 

 



 1 

Charline Kilpatrick 
510 Kilmer Street 

Chattanooga, TN 37404 
(423) 698-5433 
(423) 987-2435 

 
BIOGRAPHY 

 
Charline Kilpatrick is a native of South Pittsburgh Tennessee and an active 
Democrat. Winner of the National Jefferson Award for Public Service, and 
inducted into the 100 Black Women Pioneer Club, she has served as Democratic 
Party precinct officer; Assistant Executive Director of the Hamilton County 
Democratic Party; President of the Greater Chattanooga Democratic Women’s 
Club; Vice Chair of the Hamilton County Democratic Party; Treasurer of the 
Hamilton County Foster Parent’s Association and President of the Neighborhood 
Watch Program of Glenwood.  
 
Mrs. Charline Kilpatrick has shown a lifetime of compassion for, commitment and 
dedication to the improvement of the Chattanooga community through her efforts 
to assist organizations and individuals of differing ages and from varying social 
and economic backgrounds towards the achievement of self-improvement and 
equality of opportunity. In this regard, a few of her notable contributions include, 
but are not limited to the following: 
 

(1) Founder of the Chattanooga Hamilton County Foster Parents Association 
as a 501(c)(3) non-profit organization. This organization provides the 
vehicle through which member foster parents secure grants and financial 
contributions for the benefit of foster children in Hamilton County. As a 
foster parent Mrs. Kilpatrick has organized and conducted fundraising 
campaigns to supplement the costs of raising foster children and provide 
for the health, safety, welfare and overall development of youth committed 
to state custody through the Tennessee Department of Children Services. 

 
(2) Founder of the Glenwood Neighborhood Watch Program as a 501(c)(3) 

non-profit organization. This organization works directly with the City of 
Chattanooga Police and the Hamilton County Sheriff’s Department in a 
cooperative effort to provide a sustainable safe community from crime and 
urban blight for the residents of the Historic Glenwood Community in 
Chattanooga, Hamilton County, Tennessee.  
 

On Monday, May 6, 2002 in the Glenwood community, Chattanooga 
Police Officer Julie Jacks was tragically murdered while in the process 
of protecting Glenwood residents from being victimized by an individual 
apparently suffering from a psychotic episode. In response to this 
tragedy the Neighborhood Watch Program, in cooperation with the 



 2 

Chattanooga Police Department, organized a fundraising effort to 
provide relief to the family of officer Jacks and successfully received 
donations from businesses, institutions and individuals from within the 
immediate and surrounding Glenwood Community in the amount of 
$1,500.00.   

 
 

(3) On August of 1995 Mrs. Kilpatrick organized a committee and held a 
fundraising drive in order to take 35 foster children on a 5-day trip to 
Disney World in Orlando Florida. Three years later in 1998 duplicated her 
efforts and achieved the same goal. 

 
(4) Additionally, Mrs. Kilpatrick is an active member of Second Missionary 

Baptist Church, the Chattanooga Unity Group, and served for 12 years as 
Executive Committee Woman for the 10th Senatorial District in the State of 
Tennessee. 

 
(5) Mrs. Kilpatrick is the proud single parent of 4 adult sons each of whom she 

provided with college educations. 
 

(6) She is retired from the Chattanooga Electric Power Board where she was 
the first black teller to work for the EPB 

 
(7) In 2000 she attended the Democratic National Convention in Los Angeles, 

California for Presidential Candidate Al Gore. 
 

(8) In 2004 she attended the Democratic National Convention in Boston, 
Massachusetts for Presidential Candidate John Kerry. 

 
 

(9) In 2008 she served as a volunteer worker for Memorial Hospital and 
participated in the Democratic National Convention in Denver, Colorado 
where she had the distinct privilege to go as a delegate from Tennessee 
for the 10th Senatorial District on behalf of Presidential Candidate Barak 
Obama and Vice Presidential Candidate Joseph Biden. 

 
(10) In 2012 she was involved in the fight against voter suppression by 

assisting elderly voters in the acquisition of Voter Identification Photo I Ds 
mandated by the state of Tennessee. While assisting one such person, 
Ms. Dorothy Cooper, a 96-year-old woman denied the right to obtain her 
voter ID; she received national attention on the Tom Joyner Radio Show 
and MSNBC with Reverend Al Sharpton and Rachel Meadows. Through 
her efforts national and international media focused attention on 
Tennessee’s use of overly complicated voter requirements adversely 
impacting low income, elderly and minority voters.  

 



 3 

(11) She was awarded the 2013 Girls Inc. UnBought and UnBossed 
award. 

 
(12) She received the Phi Beta Sigma Fraternity Certificate of 

Excellence; and 
 

(13) Appointed to the City of Chattanooga Office of Multicultural Affairs 
Advisory Board. 

 
The above listed accomplishments are not all-inclusive but serve only to highlight 
some of her major contributions. 



 

 

No. 514-3 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 7, 2014 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION TO APPOINT ONE (1) MEMBER TO THE 
HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH & SAFETY BOARD FOR A TERM 
BEGINNING MAY 1, 2014, AND ENDING MAY 1, 2016. 

 
WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners adopted the 

Health & Safety Rules and Regulations on May 5, 1999; 
and  

 
WHEREAS, the term of Edward Ector, the appointee representing the 

Commissioner of District 4, expired January 19, 2014; and  
 
WHEREAS,             Commissioner Warren Mackey has announced his 
                                   appointment of Bruce O’Neal to serve on said Board for the  
                                   term beginning May 1, 2014 and ending May 1, 2016. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED; 
 

That the following person is appointed to the Hamilton County Health & Safety Board 
for a two (2) year term beginning May 1, 2014 and ending May 1, 2016. 
 
 APPOINTEE   APPOINTED BY 
 Bruce O’Neal   Commissioner Mackey, District Four (4) 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 7, 2014 

  
Date 

 



Bruce G. O’Neal is a native of Chattanooga. He retired from State Farm 
Insurance Company after 35 years of service. He headed numerous 
initiatives and held numerous positions including Field Trainer for the 
Catastrophe Services/Performance Support Division on State Farm. He 
attended Grambling State University and the University of Chattanooga 
where he studied Business Administration. He’s Currently the Owner 
and General Manager of Atlas Global Properties and Campaign Manager 
for Commissioner Warren Mackey’s re-election campaign. He has 
served on the board of Pro Re Bona Day Care Center and he’s a member 
of the American Society of Training and Development. Bruce is a 
member of New United Baptist Church. He enjoys golf, fishing, tennis, 
cycling, learning to play the guitar and spending time with family and 
friends. After 21 years of marriage his wife, Consuelo “Connie” O’Neal 
was called home. Bruce lives in the Shepard area of Chattanooga. They 
have two children, Aubrey Bray Brooks and Bettina Kristyn Benson and 
one grandchild (Chloe Kristyn Benson). 



 

 

No. 514-4 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 7, 2014 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING AN AMENDED STATE OF TENNESSEE, GOVERNOR’S 
HIGHWAY SAFETY OFFICE GRANT FOR THE “REMOVE INTOXICATED AND 
IMPAIRED DRIVERS” PROJECT WITH A TERM ENDING SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 AND 
AMENDING THE SHERIFF’S OFFICE OPERATING BUDGET BY ADDING AN 
ADDITIONAL $100,000 TO REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES. 
 
WHEREAS, the Governor’s Highway Safety Office has awarded an additional $100,000 to the 
Sheriff’s Office, via federal funding, with a project titled “Remove Intoxicated and Impaired 
Drivers”, in the amount of $100,000, therefore increasing the original budget of $87,546.54 to 
$187,546.54; and, 
 
WHEREAS, $80,000 of the additional grant funds will be used on overtime for saturation 
patrols on roadways to identify and cite “Driving Under the Influence (DUI) and Impaired 
Drivers” offenders, $20,000 of the additional grant funds will be used for Law Enforcement 
equipment; and, 
 
WHEREAS, this project will commence immediately and will have an ending date of 
September 30, 2014; and, 
 
WHEREAS, no local match is required by Hamilton County, nor the Sheriff’s Office. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING AN AMENDED STATE OF TENNESSEE, GOVERNOR’S 
HIGHWAY SAFETY OFFICE GRANT FOR THE “REMOVE INTOXICATED AND IMPAIRED 
DRIVERS” PROJECT WITH A TERM ENDING SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 AND AMENDING THE 
SHERIFF’S OFFICE OPERATING BUDGET BY ADDING $100,000, AND THEREFORE 
INCREASING THE BUDGET FROM $87,546.54 TO $187,546.54 TO REVENUES AND 
EXPENDITURES. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLICE WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 



 

 

 

 

 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 7, 2014 

  
Date 

 



 

 

No. 514-5 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 7, 2014 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE PURCHASE OF EIGHT (8) VISION MOBILE LAW 
VEHICLE WORKSTATION SOFTWARE LICENSES AMOUNTING TO $15,687.28 
FROM TRITECH SOFTWARE SYSTEMS FOR THE SHERIFF’S DEPARTMENT AND 
AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO 
IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, a quotation was received for eight (8) Vision Mobile Law Vehicle Workstation 

software licenses, including remote implementation and project management 
fees, and annual maintenance fee for the Sheriff’s Department; and, 

 
WHEREAS, TriTech Software Systems is the sole source for this product; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the amount of $15,687.28 is considered economically fair; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available to the requisitioning 

department. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the quotation from TriTech Software Systems for eight (8) Vision Mobile Law Vehicle 
Workstation software licenses for the Sheriff’s Department amounting to $15,687.28 is hereby 
accepted, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this 
resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 7, 2014 

  
Date 

 











 

 

No. 514-6 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 7, 2014 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF SCHOOL NURSE SUPPLY, INC. FOR 
FOUR (4) PEDIAVISION SCREENERS AMOUNTING TO $28,220.00 FOR THE HEALTH 
DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY 
CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for four (4) 

PediaVision Screeners; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the bid from School Nurse Supply, Inc. amounting to $28,220.00 was 

considered to be the lowest and best bid received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available to the requisitioning 

department. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of School Nurse Supply, Inc. for four (4) PediaVision Screeners amounting to 
$28,220.00 for the Health Department is hereby accepted, said bid being the lowest and best 
bid received, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement 
this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 7, 2014 

  
Date 

 























 

 

No. 514-7  
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 7, 2014 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR ON BEHALF OF HAMILTON 
COUNTY, TENNESSEE, THE HEALTH SERVICES DIVISION, OPERATING AS THE 
CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT TO SIGN A 
CONTINUATION CONTRACT WITH THE TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH IN THE 
AMOUNT OF $189,000 ($63,000 PER YEAR) TO PROVIDE SERVICES OF THE TENNESSEE 
BREAST AND CERVICAL CANCER EARLY DETECTION PROGRAM TO ELIGIBLE WOMEN 
IN HAMILTON COUNTY FOR A TIME PERIOD OF JULY 1, 2014 THROUGH JUNE 30, 2017. 
 
WHEREAS, breast cancer is one of the leading causes of cancer death in women in the 

United States and cervical cancer is one of the most common cancers found in 
women in the United States; and, 

 
WHEREAS, routine screening for these cancers may allow the detection of cancer at its 

earliest stages; and, 
 
WHEREAS,  cancers detected at the earliest stages are most successfully treated; and, 
 
WHEREAS,  the Tennessee Department of Health provides funding to support this program 

in Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 

That the County Mayor be authorized to sign the attached contract for the 
provision of the Tennessee Breast and Cervical Cancer Early Detection 
Program services for eligible women in Hamilton County. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 7, 2014 

  
Date 

 

































































 

 

No. 514-8 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 7, 2014 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR ON BEHALF OF HAMILTON COUNTY, 
TENNESSEE, THE HEALTH SERVICES DIVISION, OPERATING AS THE CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON 
COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT TO SIGN A   CONTRACT AMENDMENT WITH THE TENNESSEE 
DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH IN THE AMOUNT OF $416,700 TO PROVIDE SEXUALLY TRANSMITTED 
DISEASE AND HIV EDUCATION, PREVENTION AND CONTROL SERVICES  IN HAMILTON COUNTY,  
FOR A TIME PERIOD OF JANUARY 1, 2014 THROUGH DECEMBER 31, 2014 AND REDUCE THE 
EXPENSE AND REVENUE BUDGETS BY $45,900.    
 
WHEREAS, sexually transmitted diseases, including HIV continue to be a public health threat in 

Hamilton County; and, 
 
WHEREAS, appropriate and timely education, diagnosis, treatment and contact identification and 

treatment has been proven to be an effective means of controlling these diseases; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department provides this service to persons 

in Hamilton County; and, 
 
WHEREAS,  the Tennessee Department of Health provides funding to support this service; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the Tennessee Department of Health reduced required activity in this contract’s Scope 

of Service. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 

That the County Mayor be authorized to sign the attached contract amendment for the provision of 
sexually transmitted disease and HIV education, prevention and control services for the residents of 
Hamilton County  for a time period of January 1, 2014 through December 31, 2014 and reduce the 
expense and revenue budgets by $45,900. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER ITS 
PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 7, 2014 

  
Date 

 





















 

 

No. 514-9 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 7, 2014 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING AN ADDITIONAL $21,250 IN TENNCARE/MEDICAID 
ELECTRONIC HEALTH RECORD PROVIDER INCENTIVE PROGRAM MONEY INCREASING 
BOTH REVENUES AND EXPENSES BY SAID AMOUNT IN THE HEALTH DEPARTMENT’S 
RECORDS MANAGEMENT BUDGET - 103570.  
 
 
WHEREAS, the Health Department has qualified for additional funds for the implementation of an 

electronic health record purchased by resolution number 913-14 on 9/4/2013, and  
 
WHEREAS, the TennCare Bureau has granted the Health Department an additional $21,250 for an 

additional qualified provider, and   
 
WHEREAS,  the funds are needed for implementation of the program during this fiscal year.   
 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That $21,250 in TennCare/Medicaid provider incentive funds be accepted increasing both revenues and 
expenses by said amount in the Health Department’s Records Management budget - 103570.   
 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 7, 2014 

  
Date 

 



 

 

No. 514 -10  
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 7, 2014 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE STATE OF 
TENNESSEE, DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE, HEALTH SERVICES 
DIVISION, OPERATING AS THE CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT FOR THE 
PROVISION OF HEALTH PROMOTION SERVICES USING FUNDS FROM THE STATE OF TENNESSEE, 
DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH IN THE AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $121,700 FOR THE PERIOD BEGINNING JULY 1, 
2014, ENDING JUNE 30, 2015. 
 
WHEREAS,   the State of Tennessee, Department of Health has allocated $121,700 to the   
         Health Services Division of Hamilton County, Tennessee, operating as the 
         Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department, for a continuation contract for the 
                       purpose of providing health programs and services that promote the prevention of disease,  
                       illness, injury and premature death; and  
 
WHEREAS,   these services will include the planning, implementation, monitoring and evaluation of  
                       evidence-based health promotion programs designed to address selected Healthy People 
                       2020 goals and Primary Prevention Initiative goals adopted by the Tennessee Department of 
                       Health, Division of Family Health and Wellness; and 
 
WHEREAS,   the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department is seeking to continue  
                       a contractual arrangement with the State of Tennessee, Department of Health  
                       for the provision of health promotion programs and services as noted above  
                       and further delineated in the contract and scope of services for an amount not  
                       to exceed $121,700 for the period beginning July 1, 2014, ending June 30, 2015. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
        That the County Mayor be authorized to execute a contract between the State of 
         Tennessee, Department of Health and the Health Services Division, Hamilton 
                     County, Tennessee, doing business as the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health 
                     Department for the provision of Health Promotion Services for an amount not to 
                     exceed $121,700, which is included in the revenue and expense budget for the 
                     Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department, for the period beginning  
                     July 1, 2014, ending June 30, 2015. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE 
PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 7, 2014 

  
Date 

 



1-16-14 GG 
 

 

G R AN T  C O N T R A C T  
(cost reimbursement grant contract with a federal or Tennessee local or quasi -governmental entity)  

Begin Date End Date Agency Tracking # Edison ID 

July 1, 2014 June 30, 2015 34360-49615        

Contractor Legal Entity Name Edison Vendor ID 

 Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department 4208  

Subrecipient or Vendor CFDA # 

 Subrecipient   Vendor 93.991 

Service Caption (one line only) 

Health Promotion Services 

Funding — 

FY State Federal Interdepartmental Other TOTAL Contract Amount 

2015       $121,700.00              $121,700.00   

                                   

                                   

                                   

                                   

TOTAL:       $121,700.00               $121,700.00   

American Recovery and Reinvestment Act (ARRA) Funding:        YES     NO 

Budget Officer Confirmation:  There is a balance in the 
appropriation from which obligations hereunder are 
required to be paid that is not already encumbered to pay 
other obligations. 

OCR USE - GG 

Speed Chart (optional) Account Code (optional)  

HL00008097  71301000  



1-16-14 GG 
 

1 
 

GRANT CONTRACT 
BETWEEN THE STATE OF TENNESSEE, 

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH 
AND 

CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT 
 

This Grant Contract, by and between the State of Tennessee, Department of Health, hereinafter referred 
to as the “State” and Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department, hereinafter referred to as the 
“Grantee,” is for the provision of Health Promotion Services, as further defined in the "SCOPE OF 
SERVICES." 
 
Grantee Edison Vendor ID # 4208 
 
A. SCOPE OF SERVICES: 
 
A.1. The Grantee shall provide all service and deliverables as required, described, and detailed herein 

and shall meet all service and delivery timelines as specified by this Grant Contract. 
 
A.2. Service Definitions. 

 
 a. Healthy People 2020 is the ten (10) year program of national goals and objectives 

 developed the U.S. Department of Health and Human Service to reduce disease and 
 improve the health of all Americans. 

 
 b. PHHS Block Grant is the Preventive Health and Human Services Block Grant which  
  provides federal funds to states to tailor prevention and health promotion programs to  
  their particular public health needs.  
 
 c. Primary Prevention Initiative (PPI) - An initiative whose goal is to focus energy on primary 
  prevention efforts, which is supportive of implementing interventions before there is  
  evidence of a disease or injury.  The intent of the initiative is to reduce or eliminate  
  causative risk factors. 
 
A.3. Service Goals.  To promote Healthy People 2020 goals in Hamilton County. 
 
A.4. Service Recipients.  Residents of Hamilton County who participate in the health promotion 

activities and educational programs provided by this grant.  
 
A.5. Service Description.  
 
 a. The Grantee shall facilitate the planning, implementation and evaluation of community-

 driven and evidence-based health promotion programs designed to achieve the following 
 Healthy People 2020 goals adopted by the Department of Health, Division of Family 
 Health and Wellness: 

 
  (1) Attain high-quality, longer lives free of preventable disease, disability, injury, and 

 premature death; 
 
  (2) Achieve health equality, eliminate disparities, and improve the health of all 

 groups; 
 
  (3) Create social and physical environments that promote good health for all; and 
 
  (4) Promote quality of life, healthy development, and healthy behaviors across all life 

 stages. 
  



1-16-14 GG 

 

2 
 

 b. The Grantee shall participate in meetings, trainings, teleconferences and/or conferences 
 as requested by the Department of Health and attend the Health Promotion program’s 
 monthly teleconferences and any additional meetings, trainings, teleconferences and/or 
 conferences requested by the Department of Health.  The Grantee’s Health Promotion 
 Coordinator and Health Educator(s) must attend the above referenced events for the 
 purposes of sharing and receiving information and direction from the Department of 
 Health, Division of Family Health and Wellness.  

 
 c. The Grantee shall utilize Preventive Health and Human Services (PHHS) Block Grant 

 funding  to support and maintain staffing for a Regional Health Promotion Coordinator 
 and/or local Health Educator(s) and for activities for planning, administering and 
 monitoring Hamilton County health promotion services. 

 
 d. The Grantee shall develop a comprehensive PPI with SMART (Specific, Measurable, 

Attainable, Realistic, Timely) objectives to be accomplished on an annual basis adopted 
from its PPI proposals.  The Grantee shall: 

 
  (1) Facilitate health promotion programs as recommended by the Health Promotion 

 Program, using PPI focus areas as determined by the State; 
 

  (2) Partner with community organizations and coalitions to plan and implement a 
social marketing campaign which addresses the risk factors associated with its 
PPI.  This social marketing should include policy and/or environmental change, 
health communication/health literacy and individual or group programs which 
support the Initiative; 

 
  (3) Partner with community organizations and coalitions to plan, provide and/or 

 participate in national, state and local health promotion campaigns to include, at 
 a minimum, Public Health Week;   
 

  (4) Support the Hamilton County health council’s interventions aimed at achieving 
the goals identified in the PPI; 

 
  (5) Collaborate with and participate in coalitions to promote policy related to health  
   promotion and environmental change initiatives and to provide resources  
   including, but not limited to, data, technical assistance, educational materials,  
   and incentives; 

 
  (6) Assist the Department of Health in providing available resources to the   
   community to address identified focus areas and evaluating the effective use of  
   those resources; and 

 
  (7) Document, evaluate and monitor the effectiveness of the health promotion 

program in achieving PPI and PHHS Block Grant goals, including outcomes such 
as policy changes, changes in social norms (Knowledge, Attitudes, Beliefs, and 
Behaviors), and individual and community participation in local and statewide 
efforts using evidence-based techniques. 

 
A.6. Service Reporting.  The Grantee shall submit all required plans and reports to the central office 
 Health Promotion program in a timely manner.  The PPI projects shall be submitted in the PPI 
 format, as approved by the State, by August 1, 2014. All PPI activities shall be reported in a 
 format, as approved by the State, as PPI activities are completed.   
 



1-16-14 GG 

 

3 
 

A.7. Service Deliverables. 
 

 

 

Deliverable 

 

Contract 

Section 

 

 

Delivery 

Date 

 

 

Due to 

Whom? 

 

Requested 

Format 

Facilitate programs designed to 
achieve the following Healthy People 
2020 goals 

A.5.a. Ongoing Residents of 
Hamilton 
County 

To Be 
Determined 

Participate in trainings, conferences, 
teleconferences and meetings as 
requested by the State 

A.5.b. To Be 
Determined 

Central Office 
Health 
Promotion 
Program 

In person or 
by phone 

Utilize PHHS Block Grant funding to 
support and maintain staffing for a 
Regional Health Promotion 
Coordinator and/or local Health 
Educator(s) and for activities for 
planning, administering and 
monitoring Hamilton County health 
promotion services 

A.5.c. Ongoing Grantee Not 
applicable 

Develop and submit  Primary 
Prevention Initiatives 

A.5.d. and 
A.6. 

August 1, 
2014 

Central Office 
Health 
Promotion 
Program 
Director 

As provided 
by the State 

Report Primary Prevention Initiative 
activities 

A.6. Ongoing Central Office 
Health 
Promotion 
Program 
Director 

As provided 
by the State 

 
A.8. Inspection and Acceptance.  Acceptance of the work outlined above will be made by the State or 
 its authorized representative through reports, teleconferences, site visits and/or other periodic 
 reviews. The State will make the final determination in terms of acceptance of the work being 
 performed under this Contract.  All “To Be Determined” instances mentioned in the document 
 shall be proposed by the Grantee and accepted by the State. 
 
A.9. Incorporation of Additional Documents.  Each of the following documents is included as a part of 

this Grant Contract by reference or attachment.  In the event of a discrepancy or ambiguity 
regarding the Grantee's duties, responsibilities, and performance hereunder, these items shall 
govern in order of precedence below. 
 
a. this Grant Contract document with any attachments or exhibits (excluding the items listed 

at subsection b. below);  
 
b. the most current version of the Grantee’s PPI based on the Ten Essential Services of 

Public Health as defined in the PHHS Block Grant Guidance. 
 

B. CONTRACT PERIOD: 
 
 This Grant Contract shall be effective for the period beginning July 1, 2014, and ending on June 

30, 2015.  The Grantee hereby acknowledges and affirms that the State shall have no obligation 
for Grantee services or expenditures that were not completed within this specified contract period. 

 



1-16-14 GG 

 

4 
 

C. PAYMENT TERMS AND CONDITIONS:   
 
C.1. Maximum Liability.  In no event shall the maximum liability of the State under this Grant Contract 

exceed One Hundred Twenty One Thousand Seven Hundred Dollars ($121,700).  The Grant 
Budget, attached and incorporated hereto as Attachment 1, shall constitute the maximum amount 
due the Grantee for all service and Grantee obligations hereunder.  The Grant Budget line-items 
include, but are not limited to, all applicable taxes, fees, overhead, and all other direct and indirect 
costs incurred or to be incurred by the Grantee. 

 
C.2. Compensation Firm.  The maximum liability of the State is not subject to escalation for any 

reason unless amended.  The Grant Budget amounts are firm for the duration of the Grant 
Contract and are not subject to escalation for any reason unless amended, except as provided in 
section C.6. 

 
C.3. Payment Methodology.  The Grantee shall be reimbursed for actual, reasonable, and necessary 

costs based upon the Grant Budget, not to exceed the maximum liability established in section 
C.1.  Upon progress toward the completion of the work, as described in section A of this Grant 
Contract, the Grantee shall submit invoices (Attachment 2) prior to any reimbursement of 
allowable costs.   
 

C.4. Travel Compensation.  Reimbursement to the Grantee for travel, meals, or lodging shall be 
subject to amounts and limitations specified in the "State Comprehensive Travel Regulations," as 
they are amended from time to time, and shall be contingent upon and limited by the Grant 
Budget funding for said reimbursement.   

 
C.5. Invoice Requirements. The Grantee shall invoice the State no more often than monthly, with all 

necessary supporting documentation, and present such to: 
 

By email: anita.ransom@tn.gov, or 
 

 By regular mail: 
 
 Invoice Administrator 
 Division of Family Health and Wellness 
 Tennessee Department of Health 

8
th
 Floor, Andrew Johnson Tower 

710 James Robertson Parkway 
Nashville, Tennessee  37243 

 
a. Each invoice shall clearly and accurately detail all of the following required information 

(calculations must be extended and totaled correctly). 
 
(1) Invoice/Reference Number (assigned by the Grantee). 
(2) Invoice Date. 
(3) Invoice Period (to which the reimbursement request is applicable). 
(4) Grant Contract Number (assigned by the State).  
(5) Grantor:  Tennessee Department of Health/ Division of Family Health and 

Wellness.  
(6) Grantor Number (assigned by the Grantee to the above-referenced Grantor). 
(7) Grantee Name.  
(8) Grantee Tennessee Edison Registration ID Number Referenced in Preamble of 

this Grant Contract. 
(9) Grantee Remittance Address. 
(10) Grantee Contact for Invoice Questions (name, phone, and/or fax). 
(11) Itemization of Reimbursement Requested for the Invoice Period— it must detail, 

at minimum, all of the following:  

mailto:anita.ransom@tn.gov


1-16-14 GG 

 

5 
 

 
i. The amount requested by Grant Budget line-item (including any travel 

expenditure reimbursement requested and for which documentation and 
receipts, as required by "State Comprehensive Travel Regulations," are 
attached to the invoice). 

ii. The amount reimbursed by Grant Budget line-item to date. 
iii. The total amount reimbursed under the Grant Contract to date.  
iv. The total amount requested (all line-items) for the Invoice Period. 
 

b. The Grantee understands and agrees to all of the following. 
 
(1) An invoice under this Grant Contract shall include only reimbursement requests 

for actual, reasonable, and necessary expenditures required in the delivery of 
service described by this Grant Contract and shall be subject to the Grant Budget 
and any other provision of this Grant Contract relating to allowable 
reimbursements.  

(2) An invoice under this Grant Contract shall not include any reimbursement 
request for future expenditures. 

(3) An invoice under this Grant Contract shall initiate the timeframe for 
reimbursement only when the State is in receipt of the invoice, and the invoice 
meets the minimum requirements of this section C.5. 

4) An invoice under this Grant Contract shall be presented to the State within thirty 
(30) days after the end of the calendar month in which the subject costs were 
incurred or services were rendered by the Grantee.  An invoice submitted more 
than thirty (30) days after such date will NOT be paid.  The State will not deem 
such Grantee costs to be allowable and reimbursable by the State unless, at the 
sole discretion of the State, the failure to submit a timely invoice is warranted.  
The Grantee shall submit a special, written request for reimbursement with any 
such untimely invoice.  The request must detail the reason the invoice is untimely 
as well as the Grantee’s plan for submitting future invoices as required, and it 
must be signed by a Grantee agent that would be authorized to sign this Grant 
Contract. 

 
C.6. Budget Line-items.  Expenditures, reimbursements, and payments under this Grant Contract shall 

adhere to the Grant Budget.  The Grantee may vary from a Grant Budget line-item amount by up 
to twenty percent (20%) of the line-item amount, provided that any increase is off-set by an equal 
reduction of other line-item amount(s) such that the net result of variances shall not increase the 
total Grant Contract amount detailed by the Grant Budget.  Any increase in the Grant Budget, 
grand total amounts shall require an amendment of this Grant Contract. 

 
C.7. Disbursement Reconciliation and Close Out.  The Grantee shall submit a grant disbursement 

reconciliation report within thirty (30) days following the end of each quarter and a final invoice 
and final grant disbursement reconciliation report within forty-five (45) days of the Grant Contract 
end date and in form and substance acceptable to the State (Attachment 3). 
 
a. If total disbursements by the State pursuant to this Grant Contract exceed the amounts 

permitted by the section C, payment terms and conditions of this Grant Contract, the 
Grantee shall refund the difference to the State.  The Grantee shall submit said refund 
with the final grant disbursement reconciliation report. 

 
b. The State shall not be responsible for the payment of any invoice submitted to the state 

after the grant disbursement reconciliation report.  The State will not deem any Grantee 
costs submitted for reimbursement after the grant disbursement reconciliation report to 
be allowable and reimbursable by the State, and such invoices will NOT be paid. 

 



1-16-14 GG 

 

6 
 

c. The Grantee’s failure to provide a final grant disbursement reconciliation report to the 
state as required shall result in the Grantee being deemed ineligible for reimbursement 
under this Grant Contract, and the Grantee shall be required to refund any and all 
payments by the state pursuant to this Grant Contract. 

 
d. The Grantee must close out its accounting records at the end of the contract period in 

such a way that reimbursable expenditures and revenue collections are NOT carried 
forward. 

 
C.8. Indirect Cost.  Should the Grantee request reimbursement for indirect cost, the Grantee must 

submit to the State a copy of the indirect cost rate approved by the cognizant federal agency and 
the State.  The Grantee will be reimbursed for indirect cost in accordance with the approved 
indirect cost rate and amounts and limitations specified in the attached Grant Budget.  Once the 
Grantee makes an election and treats a given cost as direct or indirect, it must apply that 
treatment consistently and may not change during the contract period.  Any changes in the 
approved indirect cost rate must have prior approval of the cognizant federal agency and the 
State.  If the indirect cost rate is provisional during the period of this agreement, once the rate 
becomes final, the Grantee agrees to remit any overpayment of funds to the State, and subject to 
the availability of funds the State agrees to remit any underpayment to the Grantee. 

 
C.9. Cost Allocation.  If any part of the costs to be reimbursed under this Grant Contract are joint costs 

involving allocation to more than one program or activity, such costs shall be allocated and 
reported in accordance with the provisions of Department of Finance and Administration Policy 
Statement 03 or any amendments or revisions made to this policy statement during the contract 
period. 

 
C.10. Payment of Invoice.  A payment by the State shall not prejudice the State's right to object to or 

question any reimbursement, invoice, or matter in relation thereto.  A payment by the State shall 
not be construed as acceptance of any part of the work or service provided or as approval of any 
amount as an allowable cost.   

 
C.11. Unallowable Costs.  Any amounts payable to the Grantee shall be subject to reduction for 

amounts included in any invoice or payment theretofore made, which are determined by the 
State, on the basis of audits or monitoring conducted in accordance with the terms of this Grant 
Contract, not to constitute allowable costs.   

 
C.12. Deductions.  The State reserves the right to deduct from amounts, which are or shall become due 

and payable to the Grantee under this or any contract between the Grantee and the State of 
Tennessee any amounts, which are or shall become due and payable to the State of Tennessee 
by the Grantee. 

 
C.13. Prerequisite Documentation.  The Grantee shall not invoice the State under this Grant Contract 

until the State has received the following documentation properly completed.   
 

a. The Grantee shall complete, sign, and present to the State an "Authorization Agreement 
for Automatic Deposit (ACH Credits) Form" provided by the State.  By doing so, the 
Grantee acknowledges and agrees that, once said form is received by the State, all 
payments to the Grantee, under this or any other contract the Grantee has with the State 
of Tennessee shall be made by Automated Clearing House (ACH). 

 
b. The Grantee shall complete, sign, and present to the State a "Substitute W-9 Form” 

provided by the State.  The taxpayer identification number detailed by said form must 
agree with the Federal Employer Identification Number or Social Security Number 
referenced in this Grant Contract or the Grantee's Tennessee Edison Registration.   

 



1-16-14 GG 

 

7 
 

D. STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS: 
 
D.1. Required Approvals.  The State is not bound by this Grant Contract until it is signed by the 

contract parties and approved by appropriate officials in accordance with applicable Tennessee 
laws and regulations (depending upon the specifics of this contract, said officials may include, but 
are not limited to, the Commissioner of Finance and Administration, the Commissioner of Human 
Resources, and the Comptroller of the Treasury). 

 
D.2. Modification and Amendment.  Except as specifically provided herein, this Grant Contract may be 

modified only by a written amendment signed by all parties hereto and approved by both the 
officials who approved the base contract and, depending upon the specifics of the contract as 
amended, any additional officials required by Tennessee laws and regulations (said officials may 
include, but are not limited to, the Commissioner of Finance and Administration, the 
Commissioner of Human Resources, and the Comptroller of the Treasury). 

 
D.3. Termination for Convenience.  The State may terminate this Grant Contract without cause for any 

reason.  Said termination shall not be deemed a breach of contract by the State.  The State shall 
give the Grantee at least thirty (30) days written notice before the effective termination date.  The 
Grantee shall be entitled to compensation for authorized expenditures and satisfactory services 
completed as of the termination date, but in no event shall the State be liable to the Grantee for 
compensation for any service which has not been rendered.  The final decision as to the amount, 
for which the State is liable, shall be determined by the State.  Should the State exercise this 
provision, the Grantee shall not have any right to any actual general, special, incidental, 
consequential, or any other damages whatsoever of any description or amount.  

 
D.4. Termination for Cause.  If the Grantee fails to properly perform its obligations under this Grant 

Contract in a timely or proper manner, or if the Grantee violates any terms of this Grant Contract, 
the State shall have the right to immediately terminate the Grant Contract and withhold payments 
in excess of fair compensation for completed services.  Notwithstanding the above, the Grantee 
shall not be relieved of liability to the State for damages sustained by virtue of any breach of this 
Grant Contract by the Grantee. 

 
D.5. Subcontracting.  The Grantee shall not assign this Grant Contract or enter into a subcontract for 

any of the services performed under this Grant Contract without obtaining the prior written 
approval of the State.  If such subcontracts are approved by the State, each shall contain, at a 
minimum, sections of this contract pertaining to "Conflicts of Interest," “Lobbying,” 
"Nondiscrimination," “Public Accountability,” “Public Notice,” and “Records" (as identified by the 
section headings).  Notwithstanding any use of approved subcontractors, the Grantee shall be the 
prime contractor and shall be responsible for all work performed. 

 
D.6. Conflicts of Interest.  The Grantee warrants that no part of the total Grant Amount shall be paid 

directly or indirectly to an employee or official of the State of Tennessee as wages, 
compensation, or gifts in exchange for acting as an officer, agent, employee, subcontractor, or 
consultant to the Grantee in connection with any work contemplated or performed relative to this 
Grant Contract.   

 
D.7. Lobbying.  The Grantee certifies, to the best of its knowledge and belief, that:  
 

a. No federally appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the 
undersigned, to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or 
employee of an agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or 
an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with the awarding of any Federal 
contract, the making of any Federal grant, the making of any federal loan, the entering 
into of any cooperative agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal, 
amendment, or modification of any federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative 
agreement. 



1-16-14 GG 

 

8 
 

 
b. If any funds other than federally appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any 

person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a 
Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member 
of Congress in connection with this contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement, the 
Grantee shall complete and submit Standard Form-LLL, ``Disclosure Form to Report 
Lobbying,'' in accordance with its instructions. 

 
c. The Grantee shall require that the language of this certification be included in the award 

documents for all sub-awards at all tiers (including subcontracts, sub-grants, and 
contracts under grants, loans, and cooperative agreements) and that all subrecipients 
shall certify and disclose accordingly.   

 
This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this 
transaction was made or entered into and is a prerequisite for making or entering into this 
transaction imposed by section 1352, title 31, U.S. Code. 

 
D.8. Nondiscrimination.  The Grantee hereby agrees, warrants, and assures that no person shall be 

excluded from participation in, be denied benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to discrimination 
in the performance of this Grant Contract or in the employment practices of the Grantee on the 
grounds of handicap or disability, age, race, color, religion, sex, national origin, or any other 
classification protected by Federal, Tennessee State constitutional, or statutory law.  The Grantee 
shall, upon request, show proof of such nondiscrimination and shall post in conspicuous places, 
available to all employees and applicants, notices of nondiscrimination. 

 
D.9. Public Accountability.  If the Grantee is subject to Tennessee Code Annotated, Title 8, Chapter 4, 

Part 4, or if this Grant Contract involves the provision of services to citizens by the Grantee on 
behalf of the State, the Grantee agrees to establish a system through which recipients of services 
may present grievances about the operation of the service program, and the Grantee shall 
display in a prominent place, located near the passageway through which the public enters in 
order to receive Grant supported services, a sign at least twelve inches (12") in height and 
eighteen inches (18") in width stating: 
 
NOTICE:  THIS AGENCY IS A RECIPIENT OF TAXPAYER FUNDING. IF YOU OBSERVE AN 
AGENCY DIRECTOR OR EMPLOYEE ENGAGING IN ANY ACTIVITY WHICH YOU CONSIDER 
TO BE ILLEGAL, IMPROPER, OR WASTEFUL, PLEASE CALL THE STATE COMPTROLLER’S 
TOLL-FREE HOTLINE:  1-800-232-5454 

 
D.10. Public Notice.  All notices, informational pamphlets, press releases, research reports, signs, and 

similar public notices prepared and released by the Grantee shall include the statement, “This 
project is funded under an agreement with the State of Tennessee.”  Any such notices by the 
Grantee shall be approved by the State. 

 
D.11. Licensure.  The Grantee and its employees and all sub-grantees shall be licensed pursuant to all 

applicable federal, state, and local laws, ordinances, rules, and regulations and shall upon 
request provide proof of all licenses. 

 
D.12. Records.  The Grantee (and any approved subcontractor) shall maintain documentation for all 

charges under this Contract. The books, records, and documents of the Grantee (and any 
approved subcontractor), insofar as they relate to work performed or money received under this 
Contract, shall be maintained for a period of three (3) full years from the date of the final payment 
and shall be subject to audit at any reasonable time and upon reasonable notice by the state 
agency, the Comptroller of the Treasury, or duly appointed representatives.  The records of not-
for-profit entities shall be maintained in accordance with the Accounting and Financial Reporting 
for Not-for-Profit Recipients of Grant Funds in Tennessee, published by the Tennessee 
Comptroller of the Treasury and found at 



1-16-14 GG 

 

9 
 

http://www.comptroller1.state.tn.us/ma/finreptmanual.asp. The records for local governments 
shall be maintained in accordance with the Internal Control and Compliance Manual for 
Tennessee Municipalities, published by the Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury and found at 
http://www.comptroller1.state.tn.us/ma/citymanual.asp and in accordance with GFOA's 
publication, Governmental Accounting, Auditing and Financial Reporting.  

 
D.13. Monitoring.  The Grantee’s activities conducted and records maintained pursuant to this Grant 

Contract shall be subject to monitoring and evaluation by the State, the Comptroller of the 
Treasury, or their duly appointed representatives. 

 
D.14. Progress Reports.  The Grantee shall submit brief, periodic, progress reports to the State as 

requested. 
 
D.15. Annual Report and Audit.  The Grantee shall prepare and submit, within nine (9) months after the 

close of the reporting period, an annual report of its activities funded under this Grant Contract to 
the commissioner or head of the Granting agency, the Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury, 
and the Commissioner of Finance and Administration.  The annual report for any Grantee that 
receives five hundred thousand dollars ($500,000) or more in aggregate federal and state funding 
for all its programs shall include audited financial statements.  All books of account and financial 
records shall be subject to annual audit by the Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury or the 
Comptroller’s duly appointed representative.  When an audit is required, the Grantee may, with 
the prior approval of the Comptroller, engage a licensed independent public accountant to 
perform the audit.  The audit contract between the Grantee and the licensed independent public 
accountant shall be on a contract form prescribed by the Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury.  
Any such audit shall be performed in accordance with generally accepted government auditing 
standards, the provisions of OMB Circular A-133, if applicable, and the Audit Manual for 
Governmental Units and Recipients of Grant Funds published by the Tennessee Comptroller of 
the Treasury.  The Grantee shall be responsible for reimbursement of the cost of the audit 
prepared by the Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury, and payment of fees for the audit 
prepared by the licensed independent public accountant.  Payment of the audit fees of the 
licensed independent public accountant by the Grantee shall be subject to the provisions relating 
to such fees contained in the prescribed contract form noted above.  Copies of such audits shall 
be provided to the designated cognizant state agency, the State Granting Department, the 
Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury, and the Department of Finance and Administration and 
shall be made available to the public. 

 
D.16. Procurement.  If other terms of this Grant Contract allow reimbursement for the cost of goods, 

materials, supplies, equipment, and/or contracted services, such procurement(s) shall be made 
on a competitive basis, including the use of competitive bidding procedures, where practical.  The 
Grantee shall maintain documentation for the basis of each procurement for which 
reimbursement is paid pursuant to this Grant Contract.  In each instance where it is determined 
that use of a competitive procurement method is not practical, supporting documentation shall 
include a written justification for such decision and non-competitive procurement.  Further, and 
notwithstanding the foregoing, if such reimbursement is to be made with funds derived wholly or 
partially from federal sources, the determination of cost shall be governed by and reimbursement 
shall be subject to the Grantee's compliance with applicable federal procurement requirements.  
 
The Grantee shall obtain prior approval from the State before purchasing any equipment under 
this Grant Contract. 

 
D.17. Strict Performance.  Failure by any party to this Grant Contract to insist in any one or more cases 

upon the strict performance of any of the terms, covenants, conditions, or provisions of this 
agreement shall not be construed as a waiver or relinquishment of any such term, covenant, 
condition, or provision. No term or condition of this Grant Contract shall be held to be waived, 
modified, or deleted except by a written amendment signed by the parties hereto. 

 

http://www.comptroller1.state.tn.us/ma/finreptmanual.asp
http://www.comptroller1.state.tn.us/ma/citymanual.asp


1-16-14 GG 

 

10 
 

D.18. Independent Contractor.  The parties hereto, in the performance of this Grant Contract, shall not 
act as employees, partners, joint venturers, or associates of one another.  It is expressly 
acknowledged by the parties hereto that such parties are independent contracting entities and 
that nothing in this Grant Contract shall be construed to create a principal/agent relationship or to 
allow either to exercise control or direction over the manner or method by which the other 
transacts its business affairs or provides its usual services.  The employees or agents of one 
party shall not be deemed or construed to be the employees or agents of the other party for any 
purpose whatsoever. 
 
The Grantee, being a political subdivision of the State, is governed by the provisions of the 
Tennessee Government Tort Liability Act, Tennessee Code Annotated, Sections 29-20-101 et 
seq., for causes of action sounding in tort.  Further, no contract provision requiring a Tennessee 
political entity to indemnify or hold harmless the State beyond the liability imposed by law is 
enforceable because it appropriates public money and nullifies governmental immunity without 
the authorization of the General Assembly. 

 
D.19. State Liability.  The State shall have no liability except as specifically provided in this Grant 

Contract. 
 
D.20. Force Majeure.  The obligations of the parties to this Grant Contract are subject to prevention by 

causes beyond the parties’ control that could not be avoided by the exercise of due care 
including, but not limited to, natural disasters, riots, wars, epidemics, or any other similar cause. 

 
D.21. State and Federal Compliance.  The Grantee shall comply with all applicable state and federal 

laws and regulations in the performance of this Grant Contract. 
 
D.22. Governing Law.  This Grant Contract shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the 

laws of the State of Tennessee.  The Grantee agrees that it will be subject to the exclusive 
jurisdiction of the courts of the State of Tennessee in actions that may arise under this Grant 
Contract.  The Grantee acknowledges and agrees that any rights or claims against the State of 
Tennessee or its employees hereunder, and any remedies arising there from, shall be subject to 
and limited to those rights and remedies, if any, available under Tennessee Code Annotated, 
Sections 9-8-101 through 9-8-407. 

 
D.23. Completeness.  This Grant Contract is complete and contains the entire understanding between 

the parties relating to the subject matter contained herein, including all the terms and conditions 
of the parties’ agreement.  This Grant Contract supersedes any and all prior understandings, 
representations, negotiations, and agreements between the parties relating hereto, whether 
written or oral. 

 
D.24. Severability.  If any terms and conditions of this Grant Contract are held to be invalid or 

unenforceable as a matter of law, the other terms and conditions hereof shall not be affected 
thereby and shall remain in full force and effect.  To this end, the terms and conditions of this 
Grant Contract are declared severable. 

 
D.25. Headings.  Section headings are for reference purposes only and shall not be construed as part 

of this Grant Contract. 
 
E. SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS:  
 
E.1. Conflicting Terms and Conditions.  Should any of these special terms and conditions conflict with 

any other terms and conditions of this Grant Contract, these special terms and conditions shall 
control.  

 
E.2. Communications and Contacts.  All instructions, notices, consents, demands, or other 

communications required or contemplated by this Grant Contract shall be in writing and shall be 



1-16-14 GG 

 

11 
 

made by certified, first class mail, return receipt requested and postage prepaid, by overnight 
courier service with an asset tracking system, or by EMAIL or facsimile transmission with 
recipient confirmation.  Any such communications, regardless of method of transmission, shall be 
addressed to the respective party at the appropriate mailing address, facsimile number, or EMAIL 
address as set forth below or to that of such other party or address, as may be hereafter specified 
by written notice. 
 
The State: 
 
Melissa Blair, MS 

 Deputy Director, Division of Family Health and Wellness 
Tennessee Department of Health 
8

th
 Floor 

 710 James Robertson Parkway 
Nashville, Tennessee  37243 
Email Address:  Melissa.Blair@tn.gov 
Telephone # (615) 532-7772 
FAX # (615) 532-7189 
 
The Grantee: 
 
Rebekah Barnes, Director 
Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department 
921 East Third Street 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37403-2102 
Email Address:  BeckyB@hamiltontn.gov 
Telephone # (423) 209-8000 
FAX # (423) 209-8001 
 
All instructions, notices, consents, demands, or other communications shall be considered 
effectively given upon receipt or recipient confirmation as may be required. 

 
E.3. Subject to Funds Availability.  The Grant Contract is subject to the appropriation and availability of 

State and/or Federal funds.  In the event that the funds are not appropriated or are otherwise 
unavailable, the State reserves the right to terminate the Grant Contract upon written notice to the 
Grantee.  Said termination shall not be deemed a breach of contract by the State.  Upon receipt 
of the written notice, the Grantee shall cease all work associated with the Grant Contract.  Should 
such an event occur, the Grantee shall be entitled to compensation for all satisfactory and 
authorized services completed as of the termination date.  Upon such termination, the Grantee 
shall have no right to recover from the State any actual, general, special, incidental, 
consequential, or any other damages whatsoever of any description or amount. 

 
E.4. Charges to Service Recipients Prohibited.  The Grantee shall not collect any amount in the form 

of fees or reimbursements from the recipients of any service provided pursuant to this Grant 
Contract. 

 
E.5. No Equipment Acquisition.  This Grant Contract does not involve the acquisition and disposition 

of equipment acquired with funds provided under this Grant Contract. 
 
E.6. Confidentiality of Records. Strict standards of confidentiality of records and information shall be 

maintained in accordance with applicable state and federal law.  All material and information, 
regardless of form, medium or method of communication, provided to the Grantee by the State or 
acquired by the Grantee on behalf of the State shall be regarded as confidential information in 
accordance with the provisions of applicable state and federal law, state and federal rules and 
regulations, departmental policy, and ethical standards.  Such confidential information shall not 
be disclosed, and all necessary steps shall be taken by the Grantee to safeguard the 



1-16-14 GG 

 

12 
 

confidentiality of such material or information in conformance with applicable state and federal 
law, state and federal rules and regulations, departmental policy, and ethical standards. 
 
The Grantee’s obligations under this section do not apply to information in the public domain; 
entering the public domain but not from a breach by the Grantee of this Grant Contract; 
previously possessed by the Grantee without written obligations to the State to protect it; acquired 
by the Grantee without written restrictions against disclosure from a third party which, to the 
Grantee’s knowledge, is free to disclose the information; independently developed by the Grantee 
without the use of the State’s information; or, disclosed by the State to others without restrictions 
against disclosure. Nothing in this paragraph shall permit Grantee to disclose any information that 
is confidential under federal or state law or regulations, regardless of whether it has been 
disclosed or made available to the Grantee due to intentional or negligent actions or inactions of 
agents of the State or third parties. 
 
It is expressly understood and agreed the obligations set forth in this section shall survive the 
termination of this Grant Contract. 

 
E.7. HIPAA Compliance. The State and the Grantee shall comply with obligations under the Health 

Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA) and its accompanying regulations. 
 

a. The Grantee warrants to the State that it is familiar with the requirements of HIPAA and 
its accompanying regulations, and will comply with all applicable HIPAA requirements in 
the course of this contract. 

 
b. The Grantee warrants that it will cooperate with the State, including cooperation and 

coordination with State privacy officials and other compliance officers required by HIPAA 
and its regulations, in the course of performance of the grant so that both parties will be 
in compliance with HIPAA. 

 
c. The State and the Grantee will sign documents, including but not limited to business 

associate agreements, as required by HIPAA and that are reasonably necessary to keep 
the State and the Grantee in compliance with HIPAA.  This provision shall not apply if 
information received by the State under this grant is NOT “protected health information” 
as defined by HIPAA, or if HIPAA permits the State to receive such information without 
entering into a business associate agreement or signing another such document. 

 
E.8. Printing Authorization.  The Grantee agrees that no publication coming within the jurisdiction of 

Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 12-7-101, et seq., shall be printed pursuant to this contract 
unless a printing authorization number has been obtained and affixed as required by Tennessee 
Code Annotated, Section 12-7-103 (d). 

 
E.9. State Furnished Property.  The Grantee shall be responsible for the correct use, maintenance, 

and protection of all articles of nonexpendable, tangible, personal property furnished by the State 
for the Grantee’s temporary use under this Grant Contract.  Upon termination of this Grant 
Contract, all property furnished shall be returned to the State in good order and condition as when 
received, reasonable use and wear thereof excepted.  Should the property be destroyed, lost, or 
stolen, the Grantee shall be responsible to the State for the residual value of the property at the 
time of loss. 

 
E.10. Environmental Tobacco Smoke.  Pursuant to the provisions of the federal “Pro-Children Act of 

1994” and the Tennessee “Children’s Act for Clean Indoor Air of 1995,” the Grantee shall prohibit 
smoking of tobacco products within any indoor premises in which services are provided to 
individuals under the age of eighteen (18) years.  The Grantee shall post “no smoking” signs in 
appropriate, permanent sites within such premises.  This prohibition shall be applicable during all 
hours, not just the hours in which children are present.  Violators of the prohibition may be subject 



1-16-14 GG 

 

13 
 

to civil penalties and fines.  This prohibition shall apply to and be made part of any subcontract 
related to this Grant Contract. 

 
E.11. Debarment and Suspension.  The Grantee certifies, to the best of its knowledge and belief, that it, 

its current and future principals, its current and future subcontractors and their principals: 
 

a. are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or 
voluntarily excluded from covered transactions by any federal or state department or 
agency; 

 
b. have not within a three (3) year period preceding this Grant Contract been convicted of, 

or had a civil judgment rendered against them from commission of fraud, or a criminal 
offence in connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a public (federal, 
state, or local) transaction or grant under a public transaction; violation of federal or state 
antitrust statutes or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification, or 
destruction of records, making false statements, or receiving stolen property; 

 
c. are not presently indicted or otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a government entity 

(federal, state, or local) with commission of any of the offenses detailed in section b. of 
this certification;  and 

 
d. have not within a three (3) year period preceding this Grant Contract had one or more 

public transactions (federal, state, or local) terminated for cause or default. 
 

 The Grantee shall provide immediate written notice to the State if at any time it learns  that there 
was an earlier failure to disclose information or that due to changed circumstances, its principals 
or the principals of its subcontractors are excluded or disqualified. 

 
E.12. Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act (FFATA).  This Grant requires the Grantee 

to provide supplies and/or services that are funded in whole or in part by federal funds that are 
subject to FFATA. The Grantee is responsible for ensuring that all applicable requirements, 
including but not limited to those set forth herein, of FFATA are met and that the Grantee 
provides information to the State as required.   

 
The Grantee shall comply with the following: 

 
a. Reporting of Total Compensation of the Grantee’s Executives.  

 
(1) The Grantee shall report the names and total compensation of each of its five 

most highly compensated executives for the Grantee’s preceding completed 
fiscal year, if in the Grantee’s preceding fiscal year it received: 
 
i. 80 percent or more of the Grantee’s annual gross revenues from Federal 

procurement contracts and Federal financial assistance subject to the 
Transparency Act, as defined at 2 CFR 170.320 (and sub awards); and  

ii. $25,000,000 or more in annual gross revenues from Federal 
procurement contracts (and subcontracts), and Federal financial 
assistance subject to the Transparency Act (and sub awards); and 

iii. The public does not have access to information about the compensation 
of the executives through periodic reports filed under section 13(a) or 
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m(a), 78o(d)) 
or section 6104 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986. (To determine if 
the public has access to the compensation information, see the U.S. 
Security and Exchange Commission total compensation filings at 
http://www.sec.gov/answers/execomp.htm.). 

 



1-16-14 GG 

 

14 
 

Executive means officers, managing partners, or any other employees in 
management positions. 
 

(2) Total compensation means the cash and noncash dollar value earned by the 
executive during the Grantee’s preceding fiscal year and includes the following 
(for more information see 17 CFR 229.402(c)(2)):  

 
i. Salary and bonus.  
ii. Awards of stock, stock options, and stock appreciation rights. Use the 

dollar amount recognized for financial statement reporting purposes with 
respect to the fiscal year in accordance with the Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards No. 123 (Revised 2004) (FAS 123R), Shared 
Based Payments.  

iii. Earnings for services under non-equity incentive plans. This does not 
include group life, health, hospitalization or medical reimbursement plans 
that do not discriminate in favor of executives, and are available 
generally to all salaried employees.  

iv. Change in pension value. This is the change in present value of defined 
benefit and actuarial pension plans.  

v. Above-market earnings on deferred compensation which is not tax 
qualified.  

vi. Other compensation, if the aggregate value of all such other 
compensation (e.g. severance, termination payments, value of life 
insurance paid on behalf of the employee, perquisites or property) for the 
executive exceeds $10,000. 

 
b. The Grantee must report executive total compensation described above to the State by 

the end of the month during which this Grant is awarded.   
 
c. If this Grant is amended to extend its term, the Grantee must submit an executive total 

compensation report to the State by the end of the month in which the amendment to this 
Grant becomes effective. 

 
d. The Grantee will obtain a Data Universal Numbering System (DUNS) number and 

maintain its DUNS number for the term of this Grant.  More information about obtaining a 
DUNS Number can be found at:  http://fedgov.dnb.com/webform/. 

 
 The Grantee’s failure to comply with the above requirements is a material breach of this Grant for 

which the State may terminate this Grant for cause.  The State will not be obligated to pay any 
outstanding invoice received from the Grantee unless and until the Grantee is in full compliance 
with the above requirements. 

 
E.13. Health Care Data.  The Grantee shall provide data reports about health care services provided 

under this Grant using the Department of Health’s Patient Tracking and Billing Management 
Information System (or its successor).  Data regarding health care services provided by the 
Grantee shall be coded and entered into the Patient Tracking and Billing Management 
Information System (PTBMIS), using the PTBMIS Codes Manual.  The PTBMIS Codes manual is 
available electronically at http://hsaintranet.health.tn.gov/ and e-mail notices shall be sent to the 
Grantee regarding new revisions and/or updates, which can be accessed through the above-
referenced website. 

 
  On a schedule defined by the State, the Grantee shall submit Central Office Database Report 
 (CODB) files, as defined in PTBMIS, electronically to the State.  The Grantee shall also submit 
 other health care data reports, as requested by the State, and in a format acceptable to the State. 
 

http://fedgov.dnb.com/webform/
http://hsaintranet.health.tn.gov/


1-16-14 GG 

 

15 
 

E.14. CFDA Number(s).  When applicable, the Grantee shall inform its licensed independent public 
accountant of the federal regulations that are to be complied with in performance of an audit.  
This information shall consist of the following Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance Numbers: 

 
 93.991 – Health Promotion Preventive Health & Health Services Block Grant 
 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, 

CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT: 

 

GRANTEE SIGNATURE DATE 

Rebekah Barnes, Director 

PRINTED NAME AND TITLE OF GRANTEE SIGNATORY (above)  

HAMILTON COUNTY GOVERNMENT: 

 

 

GRANTEE SIGNATURE DATE 

Jim Coppinger, County Mayor 

PRINTED NAME AND TITLE OF GRANTEE SIGNATORY (above)  

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH: 

 

JOHN J.  DREYZEHNER, MD, MPH, FACOEM, COMMISSIONER DATE 

 
 



POLICY 03 

Object

 Line-item 

Reference

EXPENSE OBJECT LINE-ITEM CATEGORY 
1

(detail schedule(s) attached as applicable)
GRANT CONTRACT

GRANTEE 

PARTICIPATION TOTAL PROJECT

1 Salaries
2

106,300.00                    $0.00 106,300.00                    

2 Benefits & Taxes 
$15,400.00 $0.00 15,400.00                      

4, 15 Professional Fee/ Grant & Award 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

5 Supplies
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

6 Telephone
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

7 Postage & Shipping
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

8 Occupancy
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

9 Equipment Rental & Maintenance
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

10 Printing & Publications
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

11, 12 Travel/ Conferences & Meetings
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

13 Interest 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

14 Insurance
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

16 Specific Assistance To Individuals
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

17 Depreciation 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

18 Other Non-Personnel 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

20 Capital Purchase 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

22 Indirect Cost 
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

24 In-Kind Expense
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

25 GRAND TOTAL
$121,700.00 $0.00 $121,700.00

ATTACHMENT 1

GRANT BUDGET

(BUDGET PAGE 1)

2
  Applicable detail follows this page if line-item is funded.

1
  Each expense object line-item shall be defined by the Department of Finance and Administration Policy 03, Uniform Reporting Requirements 

and Cost Allocation Plans for Subrecipients of Federal and State Grant Monies, Appendix A. (posted on the Internet at:  

http://www.tn.gov/finance/act/documents/policy3.pdf).

Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department - Health Promotion

APPLICABLE PERIOD:  The grant budget line-item amounts below shall be applicable only to expense incurred during the period 

beginning July 1, 2014 and ending June 30, 2015.



SALARIES AMOUNT

Vacant , Public Health Educator - $3,258.17 x 12 x 100% 39,098.04$                         

Carleena Angwin, Public Health Educator - $3,456.59 x 12 x 100% 41,479.08$                         

Keena Mundy, Secretary - $2,748.42 x 12 x 78% 25,725.21$                         

TOTAL ROUNDED 106,300.00$                       

ATTACHMENT 1 (continued)

GRANT BUDGET LINE-ITEM DETAIL

(BUDGET PAGE 2)



NAME AND REMITTANCE ADDRESS OF CONTRACTOR/GRANTEE   

INVOICE NUMBER 

INVOICE DATE 

INVOICE PERIOD 
FROM TO

CONTRACTING STATE AGENCY   CONTRACT PERIOD 
FROM TO

PROGRAM AREA   11

EDISON CONTRACT NUMBER   CONTACT PERSON/TELEPHONE NO.

OCR CONTRACT NUMBER

USERCODE:

PROJECT ID:

AMOUNT:

SPEEDCHART NUMBER:  

USERCODE:

Printing & Publications PROJECT ID:

AMOUNT:

SPEEDCHART NUMBER:  

Specific Assistance to Individuals USERCODE:

PROJECT ID:

AMOUNT:

I certify to the best of my knowledge and belief that the data Please check one of the following boxes

above are correct, that all expenditures were made in These services are for medical services
accordance with the contract conditions, and that payment 

is due and has not been previously requested. non-medical services

Title: Title: Title:

Date: Date: Date:

ATTACHMENT: 2

FOR CENTRAL OFFICE USE ONLY

(MO./DAY/YR.)

(C)

MONTHLY

EXPENDITURES

AMOUNT BILLED

YTD

USERCODE:

PROJECT ID:

BUDGET

LINE

ITEMS

AMOUNT:

SPEEDCHART NUMBER:  

CONTRACTOR'S/GRANTEE'S AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE PROGRAM APPROVAL AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE

TOTAL

RECOMMENDED FOR PAYMENT

(A)

SPEEDCHART NUMBER:  

Indirect Cost

CONTRACTING STATE AGENCY'S AUTHORIZED CERTIFICATION
FOR FISCAL USE ONLY

Other Non Personnel

Capital Purchase

Depreciation

Interest

Insurance

Travel/Conferences & Meetings

Occupancy

Equipment Rental & Maintenance

Telephone

Postage & Shipping

Professional Fee/Grant & Award

Supplies

BUDGET

Benefits

(B)

Salaries

DUE

TOTAL

CONTRACT

FEDERAL ID#   Edison Vendor #   
Tennessee Department of Health

STATE OF TENNESSEE
INVOICE FOR REIMBURSEMENT

TDOH AGENCY INVOICE NUMBER (ONLY FOR FISCAL OFFICE USE) 



Instructions & Hints

Do not send a worksheet that is linked to another file
Line by line instructions are on the "line by line info" tab

Retain this file in blank form
Use "File Save As" to save information for a specific contract or reporting period
File Names: Please use the following format when naming files.

name of agency REPORTING PERIOD END.xls

do not abbreviate the agency name

example: davidson county health MARCH 02.xls
Reporting period - the start and end dates of the quarter being reported

Reporting periods are based on the Agency's fiscal year
Grant period - the start and end dates of the contract being reported
Send a report for every quarter even if there is no activity for that quarter
Abbreviations - do not abbreviate the Agency name
Number pages using the "page_____of _____ pages" format

THE WORKSHEET IS NOT PROTECTED

do not overwrite formulas (identified by yellow shading and "0" ) or change formats

do not overwrite/edit shaded areas (move to the cell beyond the shading for input)

do not add (insert) lines do not change shaded areas

Expense and Revenue pages can show information for 2 contracts
Use separate Schedules A & B to report contracts for each granting State agency

Use additional expense and revenue pages for more than 2 contracts
     copy all lines & fields to the first blank line below the last line in column A
     with the cursor at the start of the added page, use "insert" "page break" for print purposes
     reset print range to cover the added page(s) and correct the page numbers

Contract Number is the State Contract Number, NOT the agency program number
Report by program within the State Contract Number within State Department
Summarize programs into totals by State Contract Number and State Department totals
Do not combine State Contract Numbers 
One Funding Information Summary and one Schedule C are required from each contractor submitting reports
Review Section C in all contracts for reporting requirements

ALLOCATION OF ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS

Requires completion of all attached sheets

NOTE If files are not properly named and print ranges not set, the report will be returned for correction

Do not send invoices with expense reports
If refund due, mail reports with check or send note with e-mail that check in the mail

e-mail completed files to: Doug.Curry@tn.gov
e-mail filing replaces mailing forms

Mailing Address:
Doug Curry Telephone:615-532-7115
Tennessee Department of Health FAX 615-741-9533
Fiscal Services
6th Floor - Andrew Johnson Tower
710 James Robertson Parkway
Nashville, TN 37243

Attachment 3

mailto:Doug.Curry@tn.gov


PROGRAM EXPENSE REPORT (Excerpted from Policy 3 statement)

SCHEDULE A

EXPENSE BY OBJECT LINE-ITEMS

There are seventeen specific object expense categories; two subtotals (Line 3, Total 

Personnel Expenses, and Line 19, Total Non-personnel Expenses); and Reimbursable 

Capital Purchases (Line 20), above Line 21, Total Direct Program Expenses. All expenses

should be included in one or more of the specific categories, or in an additional expense

category entered under Line 18, Other Non-personnel Expenses. The contracting state 

state agency may determine these requirements.

With the exception of depreciation, everything reported in Lines 1 through 21 must 

represent an actual cash disbursement or accrual as defined in the Basis For Reporting 

Expenses/Expenditures section on page 13.

THE YEAR-TO-DATE EXPENSES MUST BE TRACABLE TO THE REPORTING

AGENCY'S GENERAL LEDGER

Line 1 Salaries And Wages

On this line, enter compensation, fees, salaries, and wages paid to officers, directors, 

trustees, and employees. An attached schedule may be required showing client wages or 

other included in the aggregations.

Line 2 Employee Benefits & Payroll Taxes

Enter (a) the organization's contributions to pension plans and to employee benefit 

programs such as health, life, and disability insurance; and (b) the organization's portion of

payroll taxes such as social security and medicare taxes and unemployment and workers’ 

compensation insurance. An attached schedule may be required showing client benefits and

taxes or other included in the aggregations.

Line 3 Total Personnel Expenses

Add lines 1 and 2.

Line 4 Professional Fees

Enter the organization's fees to outside professionals, consultants, and personal-service

contractors. Include legal, accounting, and auditing fees. An attached schedule may be required 

showing the details in the aggregation of professional fees.

Line 5 Supplies

Enter the organization's expenses for office supplies, housekeeping supplies, food and

beverages, and other supplies. An attached schedule may be required showing food

expenses or other details included in the aggregations.

Line 6 Telephone

Enter the organization's expenses for telephone, cellular phones, beepers, telegram, FAX,

E-mail, telephone equipment maintenance, and other related expenses.

Attachment 3



Line 7 Postage And Shipping

Enter the organization's expenses for postage, messenger services, overnight delivery, 

outside mailing service fees, freight and trucking, and maintenance of delivery and 

shipping vehicles. Include vehicle insurance here or on line 14.

Line 8 Occupancy

Enter the organization's expenses for use of office space and other facilities, heat, light,

power, other utilities, outside janitorial services, mortgage interest, real estate taxes, and 

similar expenses. Include property insurance here or on line 14.

Line 9 Equipment Rental And Maintenance

Enter the organization's expenses for renting and maintaining computers, copiers, postage

meters, other office equipment, and other equipment, except for telephone, truck, and

automobile expenses, reportable on lines 6, 7, and 11, respectively.

Line 10 Printing And Publications

Enter the organization's expenses for producing printed materials, purchasing books and

publications, and buying subscriptions to publications.

Line 11 Travel

Enter the organization's expenses for travel, including transportation, meals and lodging, 

and per diem payments. Include gas and oil, repairs, licenses and permits, and leasing 

costs for company vehicles. Include travel expenses for meetings and conferences. Include

vehicle insurance here or on line 14.

Line 12 Conferences And Meetings

Enter the organization's expenses for conducting or attending meetings, conferences, and

conventions. Include rental of facilities, speakers' fees and expenses, printed materials, and

registration fees (but not travel).

Line 13 Interest

Enter the organization's interest expense for loans and capital leases on equipment, trucks

and automobiles, and other notes and loans. Do not include mortgage interest reportable on line 8.

Line 14 Insurance

Enter the organization's expenses for liability insurance, fidelity bonds, and other

insurance. Do not include employee-related insurance reportable on line 2. Do not include 

property and vehicle insurance if reported on lines 7, 8, or 11.

Line 15 Grants And Awards

Enter the organization's awards, grants, subsidies, and other pass-through expenditures to

individuals and to other organizations. Include allocations to affiliated organizations. 

Include in-kind grants to individuals and organizations. Include scholarships, tuition

payments, travel allowances, and equipment allowances to clients and individual beneficiaries.

Pass-through funds are not included when computing administrative expenses reported on Line 22.

Attachment 3



Line 16 Specific Assistance to Individuals

Enter the organization's direct payment of expenses of clients, patients, and individual

beneficiaries. Include such expenses as medicines, medical and dental fees, children's

board, food and homemaker services, clothing, transportation, insurance coverage, and

wage supplements.

Line 17 Depreciation

Enter the expenses the organization records for depreciation of equipment, buildings,

leasehold improvements, and other depreciable fixed assets.

Line 18 Other Non-personnel Expenses

NOTE: Expenses reportable on lines 1 through 17 should not be reported in an additional

expense category on line 18. A description should be attached for each additional category

entered on line 18. The contracting state agency may determine these requirements.

Enter the organization's allowable expenses for advertising (1), bad debts (2), contingency

provisions (7), fines and penalties (14), independent research and development (reserved) 

(17), organization (27), page charges in professional journals (29), rearrangement and 

alteration (39), recruiting (41), and taxes (47). Include the organization’s and employees'

membership dues in associations and professional societies (26). Include other fees for the

organization's licenses, permits, registrations, etc.

Line 19 Total Non-personnel Expenses

Add lines 4 through 18.

Line 20 Reimbursable Capital Purchases

Enter the organization's purchases of fixed assets. Include land, equipment, buildings,

leasehold improvements, and other fixed assets. An attached schedule may be required

showing the details for each such purchase.

Line 21 Total Direct Program Expenses

Add lines 3, 19, and 20.

Includes direct and allocated direct program expenses.

Line 22 Administrative Expenses

The distribution will be made in accordance with an allocation plan approved by your cognizant 

state agency.

Line 23 Total Direct And Administrative Expenses

Line 23 is the total of Line 21, Total Direct Program Expenses, and Line 22, 

Administrative Expenses. Line 23, Total Direct and Administrative Expenses Year-to-Date

should agree with the Total of Column B, Year-to-Date Actual Expenditures of the 

Invoice for Reimbursement.

Attachment 3



Line 24 In-Kind Expenses

In-kind Expenses (Line 24) is for reporting the value of contributed resources applied to

the program. Approval and reporting guidelines for in-kind contributions will be specified

by those contracting state agencies who allow their use toward earning grant funds.

Carry forward to Schedule B, Line 38.

Line 25 Total Expenses

The sum of Line 23, Total Direct and Administrative Expenses, and Line 24, In-kind Expenses,

goes on this line.

PROGRAM REVENUE REPORT (PRR)

SCHEDULE B

SOURCES OF REVENUE

The revenue page is intended to be an extension of the total expenses page, in that the

columns should match up by contract/attachment number and program title. There are ten

revenue sources (Schedule B, Part 1) and three subtotals (Lines 33, 41, and 43). Additional

supplemental schedules for one or more of the line items may be attached, if needed. Each

revenue column should be aligned with its corresponding expense column from Schedule A.

Reimbursable Program Funds

Line 31 Reimbursable Federal Program Funds

Enter the portion of Total Direct & Administrative Expenses reported on Line 23, 

Schedule A, that is reimbursable from federal program funds. The state funding agency 

may require an attached detail listing and reconciliation schedule.

Line 32 Reimbursable State Program Funds

Enter the portion of Total Direct & Administrative Expenses reported on Line 23,

Schedule A, that is reimbursable from state program funds. The state funding agency may

require an attached detail listing and reconciliation schedule.

Line 33 Total Reimbursable Program Funds (Equals Schedule B, Line 55)

Add lines 31 and 32.

Matching Revenue Funds

Line 34 Other Federal Funds

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses

(Equals Line 41), that is from other federal funds. The state funding agency may require an

attached detail listing and reconciliation schedule.

Line 35 Other State Funds

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses

(Equals Line 41), that is from other state funds. The state funding agency may require an

attached detail listing and reconciliation schedule.

Attachment 3



Line 36 Other Government Funds

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses 

(Equals Line 41), that is from other government funds. The state funding agency may

an attached detail listing and reconciliation schedule.

Line 37 Cash Contributions (Non-government)

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses

(Equals Line 41), that is from such sources of cash contributions as corporations, 

foundations, trusts, individuals, United Ways, other not-for-profit organizations, and from

affiliated organizations. The state funding agency may require an attached detail listing and

reconciliation schedule.

Line 38 In-Kind Contributions (Equals Schedule A, Line 24)

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses

(Equals Line 41), that is from direct and administrative in-kind contributions. The state

funding agency may require an attached detail listing and reconciliation schedule.

Approval and guidelines for valuation and reporting of in-kind contributions will be

specified by those grantor agencies who allow their use toward earning grant funds.

Line 39 Program Income

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses

(Equals Line 41), that is from program income related to the program funded by the state

agency. The state funding agency may require an attached detail listing.

Line 40 Other Matching Revenue

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses

(Equals Line 41), that is from other revenues not included in lines 34 through 39. The state

funding agency may require an attached detail listing.

Line 41 Total Matching Revenue Funds

Add lines 34 through 40

Line 42 Other Program Funds

Enter program income related to the program funded by the state agency but not reported

as matching revenue funds on Line 54.

Line 43 Total Revenue

Add lines 33, 41, and 42

RECONCILIATION BETWEEN TOTAL EXPENSES

AND REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES

SCHEDULE B - (Lines 51 to 59)

This section, at the bottom of Schedule B, is for subtracting non-reimbursable amounts

included in Total Expenses (Line 25, Schedule A and Line 51, Schedule B).

The first line of this section, Line 51, Total Expenses, is brought forward from the last

last line of the corresponding Schedule A Total Expense Page.

Attachment 3



There are three categories of adjustments for which titled lines are provided:

Line 52 OTHER UNALLOWABLE EXPENSES:

Some program expenses may not be reimbursable under certain grants. This is a matter

between the contracting parties, and will vary according to the state agency involved and

the type of grant or contract. Consult your contract or the department that funds the

program for guidelines.

Line 53 EXCESS ADMINISTRATION:

This adjustment line may be used to deduct allocated Administration and General expenses

in excess of an allowable percentage specified in the grant contract. It may also be used to

deduct an adjustment resulting from limitations on certain components of Administration

and General expenses. Again, the specific guidelines of the department and grant involved

are the controlling factor.

Line 54 MATCHING EXPENSES (Equals Schedule B, Line 41)

Since the goal is to arrive at a reimbursable amount, the expenses paid out of other sources

of funding, local support and program user fees for example, will have to be deducted. The

amount left should be only that which is to be paid for by the contracting state agency.

Line 55 REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES (Line 51 less Lines 52, 53, and 54)

(Equals Schedule B, Line 33)

This is the amount that the contracting state agency will pay for the quarter's operations of

the program. The cumulative column is what the grant actually paid to date.

Line 56 TOTAL REIMBURSEMENT-TO-DATE

In the quarter-to-date column, this is the total received for this quarter from filing of the

Invoice For Reimbursement. The cumulative column's amount is the total received for the

grant year-to-date.

Line 57 DIFFERENCE (Line 55 less Line 56)

This is the portion of Reimbursable Expenses not yet paid.

Line 58 ADVANCES

Any advance payments for a grant should appear on this line.

Line 59 THIS REIMBURSEMENT (Line 57 less Line 58)

The remainder should be the amount due under the grant contract. Actual payments are

made through the invoicing process and not through the filing of this report.

Attachment 3



POLICY 3 REPORTING REQUIREMENTS - SUMMARY

Policy 3 requires reporting the entire operation of the Grantee agency.  This could include

numerous programs and contracts.  Policy 3 requirements are outlined in each contract and are

available on line at:  http://www.state.tn.us/finance/act/policyb.html

The “Contractor/Grantee” is the agency receiving the state grant.

The “Contracting State Agency” is the state agency that gives the grant.

Reports are normally due 30 days after the close of the Grantee's accounting quarter and year,

which may/may not coincide with the State accounting quarter and year end.  Exact requirements

are in the contract.

Policy 3 reporting requires one report from each contracting agency consisting of Schedules A, B,

and C and a Funding Information Summary.  Schedules A and B detail each program added to a

contract total.  Schedules A and B are designed to show 2 programs per page and there would be

only one Schedule C per grantee.  On Schedules A and B, programs that are not state funded can

be rolled into a single program category.  The lines on Schedule A for year-to-date information add

across all programs/contracts to the corresponding line on the Schedule C - Grant contracts in the

first column and non-grant operations in the second column.

The third column of the Schedule C shows Administrative Expenses incurred by the Grantee.

Administrative expenses are generally those that benefit programs but are not directly associated

with the program/contract.  These could include the Executive Director, office operation, accounting

staff, and other similar expenses.  This column will also show the allocation of Administrative

Expenses to the various programs/contracts, if this is done by the Grantee.  If allocated, a negative

on line 22 is equal to the Administrative Expense allocated to the grant and non-grant

programs/contracts.  Administrative Expenses may include some items that are not subject to

allocation so the amount allocated may/may not equal the total Administrative Expense reported.

Allocation of Administrative Expenses requires an approved allocation plan.

The fourth column of the Schedule C shows the total operation of the reporting grantee for the

year-to-date.  The Policy 3 report should, in total, match the total operation of the Grantee.

The funding Information Summary shows the method of allocating Administrative Expenses.  If

there is no approved allocation plan and the grantee does not allocate Administrative Expenses,

then there is no entry on Schedule C, line 22 and no allocation to the programs/contracts.  This

form must be submitted with every report.

Attachment 3

http://www.state.tn.us/finance/act/policyb.html


AGENCY NAME

ADDRESS

CITY, STATE, ZIP

REPORTING PERIOD: (MM/DD/YY) FROM: THRU:

AGENCY FISCAL YEAR END (MM/DD)

COST ALLOCATION: DOES YOUR ORGANIZATION HAVE AN APPROVED COST ALLOCATION PLAN?

YES NO

If yes, Name of organization that approved the Plan:

IF COST ALLOCATION IS APPLIED, INDICATE THE METHOD OF ALLOCATION:

Ratio of direct program salaries to total direct salaries applied to administrative cost.

Ratio of direct program expenditure to total direct expenditures applied to administrative cost.

Cost step down.

Other (describe)

Is your organization: A private not-for-profit organization?

A state college or university, or part of a city government?

DIRECTOR PHONE #

PREPARER OF REPORT PHONE #

DATE COMPLETED

Tennessee Department of Health

Funding Information Summary

Attachment 3



Page ___ of ___
Schedule A, Part 1 STATE OF TENNESSEE               PROGRAM EXPENSE REPORT

CONTRACTOR/GRANTEE FEDERAL ID #

CONTRACTING STATE AGENCY REPORT PERIOD 

Program #    

Contract Number    

Grant Period    

Program Name    

Service Name    

Schedule A
Item # EXPENSE BY OBJECT: QUARTER TO DATE YEAR TO DATE QUARTER TO DATE YEAR TO DATE

1 Salaries and Wages
2 Employee Benefits & Payroll Taxes
3      Total Personnel Expenses (add lines 1 and 2)
4 Professional Fees
5 Supplies
6 Telephone
7 Postage and Shipping
8 Occupancy
9 Equipment Rental and Maintenance

10 Printing and Publications
11 Travel
12 Conferences and Meetings
13 Interest
14 Insurance
15 Grants and Awards
16 Specific Assistance to Individuals
17 Depreciation
18 Other Non-personnel Expenses (detail)

a
b
c
d

19      Total Non-personnel Expenses (add lines 4 - 18)
20 Reimbursable Capital Purchases
21      TOTAL DIRECT PROGRAM EXPENSES
22 Administrative Expenses
23      TOTAL DIRECT AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
24 In-Kind Expenses
25      TOTAL EXPENSES

Attachment 3



Page ___ of ___

Schedule B, Part 1 STATE OF TENNESSEE               PROGRAM EXPENSE REPORT

CONTRACTOR/GRANTEE FEDERAL ID #

CONTRACTING STATE AGENCY REPORT PERIOD 

Program #    

Contract Number    

Grant Period    

Program Name    

Service Name    

Schedule B
Item # SOURCES OF REVENUE QUARTER TO DATE YEAR TO DATE QUARTER TO DATE YEAR TO DATE

Reimbursable Program Funds ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ----------------------------------
31      Reimbursable Federal Program Funds
32      Reimbursable State Program Funds
33 Total Reimbursable Program Funds (equals line 55)

Matching Revenue Funds
34      Other Federal Funds
35      Other State Funds
36      Other Government Funds
37      Cash Contributions (non-government)
38      In-Kind Contributions (equals line 24)
39      Program Income
40      Other Matching Revenue
41 Total Matching Revenue Funds (lines 34 - 40)

42 Other Program Funds

43 Total Revenue (lines 33, 41, & 42)

Reconciliation Between Total and Reimbursable Expenses
51 Total Expenses (line 25)
52 Subtract Other Unallowable Expenses (contractual)
53 Subtract Excess Administration Expenses (contractual)
54 Subtract Matching Expenses (equals line 41)
55 Reimbursable Expenses (line 51 less lines 52,53,54)

56 Total Reimbursement To Date
57 Difference (line 55 less line 56)
58 Advances
59 This reimbursement (line 57 less line 58)

Attachment 3



Page   ___  of ___

Schedule C - Final Page STATE OF TENNESSEE   PROGRAM EXPENSE REPORT

CONTRACTOR/GRANTEE FEDERAL ID #

CONTRACTING STATE AGENCY REPORT PERIOD 

TOTAL DIRECT 
PROGRAM 
EXPENSES

TOTAL 
NONGRANT/ 

UNALLOWABLE 
EXPENSES

TOTAL 
ADMINISTRATIVE 

EXPENSES GRAND TOTAL

Schedule A Year-To-Date Information

Item # EXPENSE BY OBJECT: YEAR TO DATE YEAR TO DATE YEAR TO DATE YEAR TO DATE

1 Salaries and Wages

2 Employee Benefits & Payroll Taxes

3      Total Personnel Expenses

4 Professional Fees

5 Supplies

6 Telephone

7 Postage and Shipping

8 Occupancy

9 Equipment Rental and Maintenance

10 Printing and Publications

11 Travel

12 Conferences and Meetings

13 Interest

14 Insurance

15 Grants and Awards

16 Specific Assistance to Individuals

17 Depreciation

18 Other Non-personnel Expenses (detail)

a

b

c

d

19      Total Non-personnel Expenses

20 Reimbursable Capital Purchases

21      TOTAL DIRECT PROGRAM EXPENSES

22 Administrative Expenses

23      TOTAL DIRECT AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

24 In-Kind Expenses

25      TOTAL EXPENSES

Attachment 3



 

 

No. 514-11 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 7, 2014 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION RATIFYING THE PURCHASE OF GASOLINE AND DIESEL FUEL FOR THE 
PERIOD OF MARCH 1, 2014, THROUGH MARCH 31, 2014, AND TO AUTHORIZE THE 
COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 
RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, the Purchasing Department was authorized to make purchases of petroleum products 

on the open market; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the following purchases were made between March 1, 2014, through March 31, 2014.  
 
 March 4, 2014, $22,954.07 for 8,549 gallons of E-10 gasoline at 2.6850 per gallon 

from Collins Oil Company, Inc.  
 
 March 6, 2014, $11,543.09 for 4,029 gallons of regular unleaded gasoline at 2.8650 

per gallon from Jat Oil & Supply, Inc. 
 
 March 11, 2014, $20,237.45 for 7,514 gallons of E-10 gasoline at 2.6933 per gallon 

from Parman Lubricants. 
 
 March 13, 2014, $2,169.30 for 700 gallons of regular unleaded gasoline at 3.0990 per 

gallon from Jat Oil & Supply, Inc. 
  
 March 19, 2014, $23,371.88 for 8,533 gallons of E-10 gasoline at 2.7390 per gallon 

from Jat Oil and Supply, Inc. 
 
 March 19, 2014, $23,393.80 for 8,541 gallons of E-10 gasoline at 2.7390 per gallon 

from Jat Oil & Supply, Inc. 
 
 March 19, 2014, $23,208.97 for 7,509 gallons of diesel fuel at 3.09082 per gallon from 

Parman Lubricants. 
 
  
  
 



 

 

 

 

 
 March 21, 2014, $1,994.03 for 587 gallons of regular unleaded gasoline at 3.39698 per 

gallon from Sweetwater Valley Oil Co. 
 
 March 26, 2014, $3,711.70 for 1,092 gallons of regular unleaded gasoline at 3.39899 

per gallon from Jat Oil & Supply, Inc. 
 
   
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED:  
 
That the above purchases be ratified in the best interest of Hamilton County, and the County Mayor is 
authorized to sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 7, 2014 

  
Date 

 







 

 

No. 514-12 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 7, 2014 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION TO WAIVE THE PURCHASING RULES AND AUTHORIZE THE 
COUNTY MAYOR TO TRANSFER A COMMERCIAL GRADE WASHING MACHINE 
TO THE HUMANE EDUCATION SOCIETY (HES) OF CHATTANOOGA. 
 
WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Purchasing Rules and Regulations require the marketing 

of or sale of county-owned surplus property (specialty equipment) at public 
auction; and, 

 
WHEREAS,  the Hamilton County Purchasing Rules and Regulations have no provisions for 

donating surplus county property to another governmental or non profit agency, 
that authority residing with the Hamilton County Commission; and, 

 
WHEREAS,  the equipment was installed in and included with the McDaniel Building 

donated to the county by Life Care Centers of America; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the county has no use for this equipment and there is a need at the Humane 

Education Society of Chattanooga. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the Board of County Commissioners does hereby waive the purchasing rules and donate 
the herein described surplus property to the Humane Educational Society of Chattanooga. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 7, 2014 

  
Date 

 





 

 

No. 514-13 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 7, 2014 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BIDS OF GUARDIAN EMS PRODUCTS, BOUND TREE 
MEDICAL, LLC AND PHYSIO-CONTROL, INC. FOR ONE (1) YEAR CONTRACT PRICING, 
BEGINNING MAY 7, 2014, THROUGH MAY 6, 2015, FOR MEDICAL SUPPLIES FOR 
EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN 
ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for contract pricing for medical 

supplies for Emergency Medical Services; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the bids from Guardian EMS Products, Bound Tree Medical, LLC and Physio-Control, 

Inc. were considered to be the lowest and best overall bids received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available to the requisitioning 

department. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bids of Guardian EMS Products, Bound Tree Medical, LLC. and Physio-Control, Inc. for one 
(1) year contract pricing, beginning May 7, 2014, through May 6, 2015, for medical supplies for 
Emergency Medical Services are hereby accepted, said bids being the lowest and best  overall bids 
received, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this 
resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.  

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 7, 2014 

  
Date 

 



























































 

 

No. 514-14 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 7, 2014 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION TO AMEND THE “MASTER LIST OF ROADS AND SPEED 
LIMITS” SO AS TO CHANGE THE ROADWAY NAME FOR THE FOLLOWING 
DISTRICT ROAD: Chen Lane to Jed Lane. 
 
WHEREAS, the majority of the property owners on Chen Lane request the road be 

renamed; and,  
 
WHEREAS, Hamilton County GIS Department recommends Chen Lane be renamed Jed 

Lane; and, 
 
WHEREAS, on February 19, 1986, the Hamilton County Commission accepted Chen Lane 

as a district road. 
 
 
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 

1. That Jed Lane be described as being 0.15 miles in length, northeast from Middle 
Valley Road to a turnaround. 

 
 2.  That the speed limit on said road shall remain as originally accepted and that 

violation of the same, when posted, shall be a misdemeanor and punishable as 
such as provided by the laws of the State. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 7, 2014 

  
Date 

 



 

 

No. 514-15 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 7, 2014 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO ENTER INTO AND EXECUTE 
AN "OFFER TO PURCHASE" RELATIVE TO A PORTION OF LOT 1 OF THE CENTRE SOUTH 
RIVERPORT/ INDUSTRIAL PARK AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO EXECUTE 
A DEED AND OTHER NECESSARY CLOSING DOCUMENTS CONVEYING SAID PROPERTY 
TO THE PURCHASER LISTED HEREINBELOW UPON PAYMENT OF THE SALE PRICE BY 
THE PURCHASER. 
 
WHEREAS, on February 18, 1987 the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners adopted 

Resolution No. 287-41 approving a Request for Proposals and outlining general 
guidelines for the purchase and development of the Centre South 
Riverport/Industrial Park; and, 

 
WHEREAS, a proposal has been made in which Dillard Partnership desires to purchase four and 

one-half (4.5) acres (more or less subject to survey) known as a portion of Lot 1 of 
the Centre South Riverport/Industrial Park for $70,000 per acre ($315,000); and, 

 
WHEREAS, an "Offer to Purchase" and proposal have been presented by said purchaser, in 

accordance with the attached or similar documents; and, 
 
WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of Hamilton County to accept said offer for the continued 

economic growth of Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the County Mayor is hereby authorized to enter into and execute the attached or similar "Offer to 
Purchase" relative to a portion of Lot 1 of the Centre South Riverport/Industrial Park and that the 
County Mayor is hereby authorized to execute a deed and other necessary closing documents 
conveying said property to the purchaser listed below upon payment of the sale price, less costs of 
closing, and other costs according to the terms and conditions outlined in said “Offer to Purchase.” 
 
 ACREAGE PURCHASER SALE PRICE 
            4.5 (more or less                                Dillard Partnership     $315,000  
           (subject to survey)   or assigns 



 

 

 

 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 7, 2014 

  
Date 

 
























	5-7-14 Agenda with Notes-2
	514-_S_Minutes_ Recessed Meeting April 9  2014_797_04-09-14 Recessed
	514-_S_Minutes_Agenda Session April 9, 2014_796_04-09-14 Agenda
	STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Agenda Preparation Session

	514-_S_Minutes_Recessed Meeting April 16 2014_807_04-16-14 Recessed
	514-_S_Minutes_Regular Meeting April 16 2014_806_04-16-14 Regular
	Members of the Commission and Mayor Coppinger wished everyone a safe and happy Easter holiday weekend.
	Commissioner Haynes reported that today was the first day of early voting for the County Primary Election. He encouraged everyone to vote.  Several other members of the Commission expressed the same.
	Commissioner Graham and Chairman Skillern wished a happy birthday to Legislative Administrator Patricia Moore.
	Mayor Coppinger made comments relating to a billboard in several locations throughout the County offering free testing for gonorrhea. He pointed out that the billboard depicted an African-American male. He expressed that the disease was not common to...
	DELEGATIONS

	514-1_R_County Clerk_Notary Public_819_05-07-14
	514-1_S_County Clerk_Notary Public_819_05-07-14 A
	514-_S_Report_Trustee Excess Fee Report March 2014_794_Trustee Excess Fee Report March 2014
	514-_S_Report_Trustee Monthly Report March 2014_795_Trustee Monthly Report March 2014
	514-_S_Report_Juvenile Court Reports_820_Juvenile Court Reports
	514-_S_Report_Bakewell Utility District Appointments_823_Bakewell Utility Appointments
	514-2_R_Appointment(s)_The Chattanooga Hamilton County Regional Health Council appointments_766_Chattanooga-Hamilton County Regional Health Council
	514-2_S_Appointment(s)_The Chattanooga Hamilton County Regional Health Council appointments_766_Charline Kilpatrick Biography
	BIOGRAPHY
	On Monday, May 6, 2002 in the Glenwood community, Chattanooga Police Officer Julie Jacks was tragically murdered while in the process of protecting Glenwood residents from being victimized by an individual apparently suffering from a psychotic episode...


	514-3_R_Rheubin Taylor_Health & Safety Board_818_Template - Health and Safety Board
	514-3_S_Rheubin Taylor_Health & Safety Board_818_Bruce G  O'Neal Biography (3)
	514-4_R_Sheriff Hammond_Governors Highway Safety Grant Remove Intoxicated and Impaired Drivers Amended Contract_792_STATE OF TENNESSEE
	514-5_R_Sheriff Hammond_Vision Mobile Law Vehicle Workstation Software Licenses_815_RES. MOBILE LAW VEHICLE WORKSTATION SOFTWARE LICENSES 5-7-14
	514-5_S_Sheriff Hammond_Vision Mobile Law Vehicle Workstation Software Licenses_815_TriTech Software
	514-6_R_Becky Barnes_Four PediaVision Screeners_798_RES. (4) PEDIAVISION SCREENERS
	514-6_S_Becky Barnes_Four PediaVision Screeners_798_Four (4) PediaVision Screeners
	514-7_R_Becky Barnes_Tennessee Breast and Cervical Cancer Early Detection Program_812_TBCCEDP 2014 - 17
	514-7_S_Becky Barnes_Tennessee Breast and Cervical Cancer Early Detection Program_812_TBCCEDP Contract 2014
	514-8_R_Becky Barnes_STD HIV Education and Prevention Services_814_514-8_R_Becky Barnes_STD HIV Education and Prevention Services_814_STD HIV Prevention 2014
	514-8_S_Becky Barnes_STD HIV Education and Prevention Services_814_STD HIV Prevention Contract 2014
	514-9_R_Becky Barnes_Additional funds _816_2014 TennCare Medicaid Provider Incentive Funds CERP
	514-10_R_Becky Barnes_State Health Promotion_824_Health Promotion Resolution 2014
	514-10_S_Becky Barnes_State Health Promotion_824_Health Promotion Contract
	New Invoice Format 3-1-14 Att 2 &3.pdf
	QTY EXPENSE 3.pdf
	inv



	514-11_R_Al Kiser_Fuel March 2014_805_Fuel Resolution March 2014
	514-11_S_Al Kiser_Fuel March 2014_805_Fuel Resolution March 2014 Supporting Documents
	514-12_R_Al Kiser_Donation to HES_813_Resolution HES Donation request
	514-12_S_Al Kiser_Donation to HES_813_HES Donation request supporting docs
	514-13_R_Don Allen_EMS Medical Supplies Contract_808_RES. MEDICAL SUPPLIES CONTRACT 5-7-14
	514-13_S_Don Allen_EMS Medical Supplies Contract_808_Medical Supplies Contract
	514-14_R_Todd Leamon_Chen Lane to Jed Lane_809_chenlaneresolution
	514-15_R_Todd Leamon_Sale of Centre South Riverport Industrial Park Property to Dillard Partnership_817_Res. Centre South Dillard Partnership
	514-15_S_Todd Leamon_Sale of Centre South Riverport Industrial Park Property to Dillard Partnership_817_CS Property. Dillard Partnership Attachments



